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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF FULTON COUNTY
STATE OF GEORGIA

NICOLE WADE; JONATHAN GRUNBERG;
TAYLOR WILSON;
WADE, GRUNBERG & WILSON, LLC;

Plaintiffs,
Civil Action File No: 2020-CV-339937
V.
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
L. LIN WOOD and L. LIN WOOD, P.C.,

Defendants.

FIRST AMENDED VERIFIED COMPLAINT
COME NOW Nicole Wade, Jonathan Grunberg, Taylor Wilson, and Wade, Grunberg &
Wilson, LLC (collectively, “Plaintiffs”), and file this their First Amended Verified Complaint
against Defendants L. Lin Wood and L. Lin Wood, P.C. (collectively, “Defendants™). This First

Amended Verified Complaint is being filed as a recast complaint, showing the Court as follows:

INTRODUCTION
1.
This lawsuit arises out of the breach of a Settlement Agreement and General Release
executed by the Parties on March 17, 2020 (the “Settlement Agreement”). A true and correct

copy of the Settlement Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit A.'

' Certain portions of the Settlement Agreement have been redacted for client confidentiality
purposes, including the liquidated sum owed to Plaintiffs under the Settlement Agreement.
Contemporaneous with serving this Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs are serving discovery upon
Defendants and third parties to allow for the disclosure of the liquidated sum. Plaintiffs will
promptly amend the Complaint to provide the liquidated sum as soon as permitted.



2.

The parties to the Settlement Agreement are all attorneys who practiced law successfully
together in the firm of L. Lin Wood P.C. (hereinafter “LLW PC”) for a number of years, working
on many cases together, including each of the cases identified in the Settlement Agreement.

3.

In early 2020, due to the erratic, abusive, and unprofessional behavior of Defendant L.
Lin Wood (hereinafter “Wood”) as described herein, Plaintiffs sought to leave Defendant LLW
PC and entered into the Settlement Agreement rather than litigate — and despite — the issues
described herein. Indeed, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson made significant financial
concessions in the Settlement Agreement, despite having no legal obligation to do so,
specifically to avoid filing this lawsuit in favor of protecting the privacy of Defendant Wood and
various third parties.

4.

Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, Defendants owe Plaintiffs a liquidated sum arising
from the fees for certain cases and eventual resolution of other business disputes as set forth in
the Settlement Agreement.

5.

The amount owed to Plaintiffs is owed by Defendants out of fees they have already
collected from clients for work performed by Plaintiffs when they were lawyers at LLW PC;
thus, enforcement of Defendants’ payment obligations under the Settlement Agreement does not
require clients to pay fees beyond those paid to Defendants. And, indeed, it does not involve

clients at all.



6.

Defendants have failed to honor the terms of the Settlement Agreement and further

advised Plaintiffs that they will not make the payment required by the Settlement Agreement.
7.

Defendants’ stated position for breaching the Settlement Agreement is that the individual
Plaintiffs “were not in Lin’s firm [LLW PC] at any time relevant” to the cases addressed in the
Settlement Agreement but only “shared office space and worked on cases with LLW PC” and,
thus, client consent is required to split fees with said Plaintiffs, pursuant to Georgia Rule of
Professional Conduct 1.5.

8.

Defendants’ position that Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson were never associated
with Defendant LLW PC is apparently based solely on the fact that each Plaintiff received his or
her compensation from Defendant LLW PC via separate LLCs, each owned only by the
individual Plaintiffs, for which Defendants issued 1099s rather than W-2s, which is not only
irrelevant to the issue, but also was an act taken by Defendants solely in their own discretion for
the apparent purpose of not having to account for taxes on compensation paid to Plaintiffs Wade,
Grunberg, and Wilson, who were required to account for their own income taxes via separate
LLCs.

9.

Defendants have taken this position to avoid payment of the largest fee identified in the
Settlement Agreement — the one case which, because of the size of its fee, was the primary
motivation for the parties to enter into the Settlement Agreement (the “Disputed Case”™).

Defendants were at the time of the Settlement Agreement and remain to this day lead counsel on



this case. Defendants now contend that this client has refused consent for Plaintiffs Wade,
Grunberg, and Wilson to be paid the fee split Defendants agreed to in the Settlement Agreement
— even though the entire fee has already been paid to Defendant LLW PC, and the division of
compensation between the former lawyers of LLW PC should not involve clients in any way.

10.

The bad faith of Defendants’ position is plain from every fact attendant to the parties’
relationship and practice of law. For instance, Defendants acknowledged Wade’s, Grunberg’s,
and Wilson’s status as lawyers and partners of Defendant LLW PC by:

(a) Creating, or causing to be created, Defendant LLW PC’s website, which identified

Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson as partners of LLW PC;

(b) Making public announcements via the Fulton County Daily Report, the State Bar
Journal, and other publications regarding each individual Plaintiff’s hiring and/or
promotion to partners of Defendant LLW PC;

(c) Allowing and directing countless representations to be made to many courts, both
federal and state, that each individual Plaintiff was a member of Defendant LLW PC
by virtue of every filing by any of the individual Plaintiffs and every hearing, trial,
deposition, mediation, and/or arbitration attended by any individual Plaintiff;

(d) Drafting, or causing to be drafted, countless engagement agreements entered into by
Defendant LLW PC wherein one or more of the individual Plaintiffs were identified
as lawyers of LLW PC who would be working on that client’s matter;

(e) Providing to the individual Plaintiffs business cards identifying each individual

Plaintiff as an attorney of LLW PC;



(f) Providing each of the individual Plaintiffs with email addresses at LLW PC’s domain
“linwoodlaw.com”;

(g) Making countless introductions in court, in depositions, to clients, and to third parties

of each of the individual Plaintiffs as “Partners” of LLW PC;

(h) Drafting countless emails, texts, tweets, and conversations over a period of years

acknowledging and holding out the individual Plaintiffs as “Partners” of Wood and
LLW PC; and
(1) Expressly acknowledging in the Settlement Agreement that Plaintiffs Wade,
Grunberg, and Wilson “never held any ownership interest in L. Lin Wood, P.C.
(hereinafter “LLW PC”) but have worked as lawyers of L. Lin Wood, P.C. on cases
since 2018.”
11.

Thus, despite the avalanche of evidence to the contrary and their agreement in the
Settlement Agreement, Defendants now apparently contend that Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and
Wilson were not “associated in a law firm” with Defendant Wood.

12.

It is now clear that Defendants committed fraud because they never intended to pay the
majority of the money they owe to Plaintiffs under the Settlement Agreement. Defendants’
fraudulent intent is evidenced in their first draft of the Settlement Agreement which contained a
false recital that was a poison pill, as it mirrors Defendants’ now-stated reason for breaching the
contract: “Nicole Wade, Jonathan Grunberg, and Taylor Wilson and L. Lin Wood, P.C. are

lawyers who practiced law, co-counseled cases, and shared office space together.”



13.

The Parties heavily negotiated Defendants’ false recital about Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg,
and Wilson working as partners of Defendant LLW PC, ultimately resulting in the statement that
Plaintiffs “have worked as lawyers of L. Lin Wood, P.C. on cases since 2018.” (Ex. A emphasis
added). The attention Defendants cast on this detail reveals their fraudulent intent.

14.

Defendants’ breach of contract was premeditated; Defendant Wood never intended to
make the payment required by the Settlement Agreement as he has repeatedly sworn since
February 10, 2020 and as quoted herein.

15.

Defendants’ bad faith in entering into a contract under which they never intended to
perform, as shown herein, demonstrates that they fraudulently induced Plaintiffs to enter into the
Settlement Agreement so that they could exact financial concessions from Plaintiffs for which
Plaintiffs had no legal liability in exchange for finally obtaining Defendants’ false promise to pay
to Plaintiffs a larger sum, to which they were entitled, and which Defendants never ultimately
intended to pay.

16.

Plaintiffs have brought this suit to enforce the Settlement Agreement, alleging claims of
breach of contract and fraud. Plaintiffs’ claims of fraud are based upon Defendants’ bad faith in
drafting language into the Settlement Agreement which was designed to induce the Plaintiffs to
enter the agreement which Defendant Wood intended, at the time of signing, to use as a bad faith
basis for reneging on performance. Evidence of Defendant Wood’s fraudulent intent are found

in the circumstances surrounding the drafting of the Settlement Agreement as well as in his own



words prior to entering the Settlement Agreement in which he repeatedly threatened Plaintiffs
with physical harm and vowed never to pay them “one thin dime.”
17.

On the day after Plaintiffs notified Defendants of their intent to bring this action,
Defendants contacted various of Plaintiffs’ clients and co-counsel and falsely accused them of
criminal extortion, in direct violation of the Settlement Agreement’s “Non Disparagement”
Clause in which Defendants Wood and Wood PC agreed “not to disparage” Plaintiffs as a
condition of the Settlement Agreement. Defendants thereafter published to the media and via
social media the false accusation that Plaintiffs are extortionists, giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims
for breach of the “Non Disparagement” clause of the Settlement Agreement, with damages to
flow therefrom.

18.

In Defendants’ latest false conspiracy theory, Defendant Wood has accused the Plaintiffs
of filing this lawsuit as part of some “leftist attack™ being financed by some unspecified political
activists—which is all part of Defendants’ promises to destroy Plaintiffs’ careers and render
them “broke and essentially homeless.” Worse, as Defendants clearly expected to occur,
members of his current Twitter following of 175,000 individuals have threatened violence
against Plaintiffs, including going to their homes to physically assault Plaintiffs and other “real
real bad things.” These recent posts give rise to Plaintiffs’ claims for Specific Performance of
the Settlement Agreement to enjoin Defendant Wood from further breaches of the Non

Disparagement Clause which are designed to incite violence against the Plaintiffs.



PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE
19.
Plaintiff Nicole Wade (“Wade”) is a citizen and resident of the State of Georgia.
20.
Plaintiff Jonathan Grunberg (“Grunberg”) is a citizen and resident of the State of
Georgia.
21.
Plaintiff Taylor Wilson (“Wilson”) is a citizen and resident of the State of Georgia.
22.

Plaintiff Wade, Grunberg & Wilson, LLC (“WGW LLC”) is a limited liability company
registered to transact business in the State of Georgia. Its principal place of business is located in
Fulton County, Georgia 30309. Its only members are Plaintiffs’ individual LLCs: Wade Law,
LLC, J.D. Grunberg, LLC, and G. Taylor Wilson, LLC, each a single member Georgia limited
liability company, owned solely by the individual Plaintiff identified in the LLC name.

23.

Defendant L. Lin Wood (“Wood”) is a citizen of the State of Georgia and a resident of
Fulton County, Georgia and may be served at his residence at 663 Greenview Avenue, Atlanta,
Georgia 30305.

24,

Defendant L. Lin Wood P.C. (“LLW PC”) is a professional corporation registered to
transact business in Georgia. L. Lin Wood, P.C. may be served through its Registered Agent, L.
Lin Wood, 663 Greenview Ave NE, Atlanta, Fulton County, Georgia 30305. Its only shareholder

1s individual Defendant Lin Wood.



25.

Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 15-6-8 and GA. CONST. art. VI, § 4, 9 I, this Court has
jurisdiction over this action and over Defendant Wood, a resident in Fulton County, Georgia, and
Defendant LLW PC, a corporation operating in Fulton County and whose registered agent is
located in Fulton County, Georgia. All actions giving rise to the basis of this Complaint
occurred in Fulton County, Georgia, and pursuant to O.C.G.A. §14-2-510(b)(4), venue is proper
in this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Detailed Facts Pertinent to Breach of Contract

Background of Plaintiffs’ Association with Defendant LLW PC
26.

Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, Wilson, and Defendant Wood are lawyers who are licensed to
practice law in the State of Georgia.

27.

In or around September 2014, Plaintiff Grunberg was hired as an associate — a W-2
employee — by Defendant LLW PC when Wood’s former firm, Wood, Hernacki & Evans, LLC
disbanded.

28.
In May 2015, Plaintiff Wade joined LLW PC as a Partner.
29.
Effective May 2015, Plaintiff Wade and Defendant LLW PC entered into an agreement

titled “Agreement for Nicole Jennings Wade to Join L. Lin Wood, P.C.” with a term sheet



providing, in material part, that “Nicole will join L. Lin Wood, P.C. between May 11, 2015 and
June 15, 2015,” that “Nicole will agree to work full-time and exclusively for L. Lin Wood, P.C.,”
that she will join “L. Lin Wood, P.C. as a ‘Partner,”” and that “[t]he structure, and Nicole’s
partnership, will be re-evaluated, and potentially re-negotiated, after one year.”

30.

Defendants’ hiring of Wade as a partner was announced in the Fulton County Daily
Report (the “Daily Report”), stating as follows: “Trial law firm L. Lin Wood, P.C. has added
Nicole Jennings Wade as a partner from Bryan Cave—the fourth lawyer for the firm. Wade
handles fiduciary, trust and estate, and general business litigation. Until now, she had practiced
at Bryan Cave and predecessor firm Powell Goldstein for her 20-year legal career.”

31.

Defendants also arranged for an email blast from the Daily Report as follows:

Sent: Monday, June 01, 2015 10:02 AM
To: Charles Warner
Subject: Professional Announcement from Lin Wood

youby
Header: Daily Report Professional Announcement

L. LIN WOOD, P.C.

TRIAL LAWYERS

is pleased to announce

NICOLE JENNINGS WADE

Has joined the firm as a Partner

Focusing her practice on
Fiduciary Litigation,
Trust & Estate Litigation,
and General Commercial Litigation

L. Lin Wood, P.C.

1180 West Peachtree Street | Suite 2400 | Atlanta, GA 30309
Telephone: (404) 891-1402 | Dircct Dial: (404) 891-1403

nwade@linwoodlaw.com
www.linwoodlaw.com

This email was sent to: chuckw@leehayes.com
This email was sent by: ALM
120 Broadway, 5th Floor, New York, NY 10271 USA 877-266-2472
If you wish to unsubscribe from please click here
If you would like to opt out of all marketing emails from ALM, click Here
‘: ALM tovisit the Email Preferences page.
Privacy Policy | Terms & Conditions
© 2015 ALM Media Properties, LLC. All rights reserved.
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32.

Plaintiff Wilson was hired as an associate — a W-2 employee — by Defendant LLW PC in
November of 2015.

33.

Following Wilson’s arrival in November 2015, LLW PC operated as a law firm with 4
lawyers — Defendant Wood and Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson — until January/February
2020.

34.

In early 2018, Defendant Wood indicated his intent to begin practicing law alone as the
sole lawyer of Defendant LLW PC.

35.

At that time, Defendant Wood began looking for office space for himself and one non-
attorney employee.

36.

In light of Defendant Wood’s stated intention, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson
formed WGW LLC.

37.

WGW LLC agreed to hire the other non-attorney employee of LLW PC who Defendant
Wood did not plan to keep at LLW PC.

38.

Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson also began searching for office space, and with
Defendant Wood’s knowledge and approval, they employed Defendants’ own real estate brokers

to canvas for space.
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39.

During this time, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson had numerous discussions with
Defendant Wood in which they sought his advice about the formation and structure of WGW
LLC.

40.

For example, Plaintiff Wade specifically discussed with Defendant Wood the anticipated

compensation structure of WGW LLC, and he provided his opinion on that issue.
41.

Defendant Wood indicated that he planned to continue to work with Plaintiffs’ new firm
as he anticipated that the individual Plaintiffs would continue doing the same work for
Defendants’ clients that they had been doing.

42.

Indeed, the individual Plaintiffs had lengthy written and oral discussions about Defendant
Wood potentially serving as “of counsel” at Plaintiff WGW LLC, and Plaintiff Wilson undertook
research regarding whether Defendant Wood could ethically practice with two different law
firms, and determined that he could by express authority of the Georgia Bar via advisory
opinion.

43.

In or around April 2018, Defendant Wood changed his mind and elected to keep

Defendant LLW PC together with Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson continuing as

attorneys of Defendant LLW PC.
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44,
Effective May 1, 2018, Defendants promoted Plaintiffs Grunberg and Wilson to non-
equity partners of Defendant LLW PC and announced their promotions to partner via the Daily

Report and the Georgia Bar Journal as follows:

L. Lin Wood, P.C., announced that Jonathan D.
Grunberg and G. Taylor Wilson were promoted
to partners. Grunberg focuses his practice on com-
plex civil litigation in federal court. Wilson focus-
‘ es on complex civil litigation in both federal and

state court. His principal areas of representation
include business and commercial litigation in both
contract and tort, false claims act cases and actions

L. LIN WOOD, P.C.

TRIAL LAWYERS

is pleased to announce

GRUNBERG

for defamation and related first amendment issues.
The firm is located at 1180 W. Peachtree St., Suite
2400, Atlanta, GA 30309; 404-891-1402; Fax 404-
506-9111; www.linwoodlaw.com.

WILSON
JONATHAN D. GRUNBERG
and
G. TAYLOR WILSON
have been promoted as Partners with the Firm

1180 West Peachtree Street « Suite 2400

Atlanta, Georgia 30309

Telephone: (404) 891-1402
www.linwoodlaw.com

Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson then abandoned Plaintiff WGW LLC, which
never operated prior to their departure from Defendant LLW PC in February 2020.
46.
Defendant Wood changed his office space search to find space sufficient for Defendant
LLW PC to continue operating with four lawyers and two assistants, and in July 2018, Defendant
LLW PC ultimately signed a lease at 1180 W. Peachtree St. NE, Suite 2040, Atlanta, GA 30309

(the “Lease”).
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47.

At Defendant Wood’s instruction, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson executed the
Lease on July 17, 2018, only as “Partners” of Defendant LLW PC. The Lease makes no mention
of any of the Plaintiffs’ LLCs, and Plaintiffs did not execute personal guarantees.

48.

Defendant LLW PC moved into the new office space at Suite 2040 in September of

2018—along with its attorneys Defendant Wood and Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson.
49.

By the middle of 2019, Defendant Wood indicated that he planned to enter into semi-
retirement at the beginning of 2020.

50.

As part of his anticipated transition out of the practice of law, in late January 2020, Wood
decided to re-brand Defendant LLW PC as a partnership named Wood, Wilson, Grunberg &
Wade (“WWG&W?).

51.
Defendants publicly announced the formation of WWG&W on or about January 24, 2020

in the Daily Report as follows:

14



WOOD, WILSON, GRUNBERG &,WADE g
TRIAL LAWYERS - ot

1180 West Peachtree Street - Suite 204
Atlanta, Georgia 30309
lephone: (404) 891-1402

52.

Pursuant to Defendant Wood’s instruction, the receptionist began answering the office

phone with “Wood, Wilson, Grunberg & Wade” on the morning of Monday, January 27, 2020.
53.

No written documentation was ever prepared or executed setting forth the relationships
between the partners of WWG&W, and no paperwork regarding the entity was ever filed with
the Georgia Secretary of State.

54.

Neither Defendants nor Plaintiffs ever filed any document in any court under the name
and or firm WWG&W,; and thus for every case that Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson were
actively litigating as of February 14, 2020, they were listed on the docket as attorneys of
Defendant LLW PC.

55.

For reasons more fully described below, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson

determined that they could no longer practice law with Defendant Wood and terminated their

association with Defendants on Friday, February 14, 2020.
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Individual Plaintiffs Were Non-Equity “Partners” of LLW PC After May 1, 2018
56.

Upon information and belief, Defendant Wood always has been the sole member of LLW
PC.

57.

At all times from May 1, 2018, until their departure on February 14, 2020 (hereinafter,
the “relevant time period”), Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson were held out as “Partners”
of Defendant Wood, whether in the entity LLW PC or the rebranded WWG&W.

58.

Throughout the relevant time period, the individual Plaintiffs received compensation for

their work as lawyers and partners of LLW PC through their individual LLCs.
59.

Irrespective of their titles, at all times during the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade,

Grunberg, and Wilson were lawyers of LLW PC, including the rebranded firm WWG&W.
60.

Throughout the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson were
“associated with” Defendant LLW PC and Defendant Wood, including for the few weeks when
the firm was rebranded as WWG&W.

6l.

Throughout the relevant time period, Defendant Wood referred to Plaintiffs Wade,

Grunberg, and Wilson as his partners and as partners of LLW PC in court appearances, in

depositions, to clients, to third parties, and in countless emails, texts, and tweets.
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62.
During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson were identified
on the website of LLW PC, at linwoodlaw.com, as “Partners.”
63.
Screenshots of pages on linwoodlaw.com as of January 2020, show each of the individual

Plaintiffs represented as Partners of LLW PC:

» Nicole Jennings Wade https://web.archive.org/web/20200117184250/http:/www.linwo..

[http:/ /www.linwoodlay Jennings-wade; |[Go] DEC FEB @00
76 captures < (V]
6 Aug 2015 - 17 Jan 2020 2019 2021 v Aboutthis captuze

L. LIN WOOD, P.C.

TRIAL LAWYERS

p hi /20200117 P m/)

An astute and experienced trial lawyer, Nicole
Jennings Wade is a partner at L. Lin Wood,
P.C. Based in Atlanta, Georgia, she handles a
variety of litigation, representing businesses and
individuals throughout the country. For over 20
years, she has focused her practice primarily on
fiduciary litigation. She has represented

Direct: 404.891.1403  jndjviduals and institutions in trial courts and
nwade@linwoodlaw.com .

(https://web.archiveorg O appeal in many types of trusts and estates
/web/20200117184250 Jjtjgation, including claims for breaches of

e fiduciary duty, fraud, will contests based on

Partner

Site Inquiry)

» Jonathan ). Grunberg hups://web archive.org/web/20200117183853/hup://www.linwo...

[nttp:/ /wwawlinwoodT runberg/ [co] PEC FEB @00
76 captures < 6o
11 Oct 2015 - 17 Jan 2020 2019 2021 v h

L. LIN WOOD, P.C.

TRIAL LAWYERS

p: rchive.org/web/20200117 p: linwood| )

Jonathan D. Grunberg focuses his practice on
complex civil litigation in federal court. Mr.
Grunberg has helped secure over $500 million
\ in settlements, litigating cases involving the
{ False Claims Act, defamation, civil rights,
‘ personal injury, commercial disputes, and
professional negligence. His results include two

Partner
Direct: 678.365.4108  record-setting Qui Tam settlements for Stark
jgrunberg@linwoodlaw. e .

gunbera@lnoodiaw ooy , oy yiolations and Medicare fraud. Mr.
(https://web.archive.org

/web/20200117183853  Grunberg also has extensive experience in

/mailto;jgrunberg@linwoodlaw com?Supject=Web . .
Site Inquiry) %é’lpmguﬁlgﬁh—proﬁle clients protect their

reputations from defamatorv attacks.

17



hitps://web.archive org/web/20200117 184200/hup: fwww linwo

» Taylor Wilson
g/ o fimwoodia orcaiion] Fes 200
68 captures V]
26 un 2016 - 17 Jan 2020 2021 v about this captus

L. LIN WOOD,

TRIAL LAWYERS

rohi b, 117 i com/)

Taylor Wilson practices complex civil litigation
in both federal and state court. His principal
areas of representation include business and
commercial litigation in both contract and tort,
False Claims Act cases, and actions for
defamation and related First Amendment issues.
partner He also has experience handling trademark

Direct: 6783654107 infringement cases and a wide variety of
::;:s::;ﬁ::;:;;;w‘com fiduciary litigation in the business and

(https://web.archive.org  estate/trust arenas.
/web/20200117184200

o ; o .
/maitto:twilson@linwoodlap,comaSublertieR .4 pc. as an Associate in 2015 after practicing

Site Inquiry) fenaral rivil litination in 2 laral hautiona firm Ha i 2 native of Mariatta

i'rllp S Tt

G

el 17 La

135 captures

L. LIN WOOD, P.C.

AWYEF

“A powerhouse libel and
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64.

During the relevant time period, Defendants provided to the individual Plaintiffs e-mail

addresses at Defendants’ domain www.linwoodlaw.com.
65.

During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade’s, Grunberg’s, and Wilson’s
@linwoodlaw.com e-mail addresses were their only professional e-mail addresses for
corresponding with clients or any other purpose.

66.

During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson each sent
hundreds of emails to Defendant Wood with a signature block identifying themselves as
“Partner” of “L. Lin Wood, P.C.”

67.

During the relevant time period, Defendant Wood never told Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg,

or Wilson that identifying themselves as “Partner” of “L. Lin Wood, P.C.” was incorrect.
68.
During the relevant time period, Defendants provided to the individual Plaintiffs business

cards evidencing their association in the law firm of LLW PC, for example:

L. LIN WOOD, P.C.

TRIAL LAWYERS

Nicole Jennings Wade

Attorney at Law

1180 West Peachtree Street 404-891-1403
Suite 2040 nwade@linwoodlaw.com
Atlanta, GA 30309 www.linwoodlaw.com
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L. LIN WOOD, P.C.

TRIAL LAWYERS

Jonathan D. Grunberg

Attorney at Law

1180 West Peachtree Street 678-365-4108
Suite 2040 jgrunberg@linwoodlaw.com
Atlanta, GA 30309 www.linwoodlaw.com

L. LIN WOOD, P.C.

—— — TRIAL LAWYERS

G. Taylor Wilson

Attorney at Law

678-365-4107
twilson@linwoodlaw.com
www.linwoodlaw.com

1180 West Peachtree Street
Suite 2040
Atlanta, GA 30309

69.
During the relevant time period, Defendants filed countless court documents identifying
the individual Plaintiffs as attorneys of LLW PC in the block identifying counsel. For example,

in a pleading signed by Defendant Wood in December of 2019, the block stated:

Case 2;18-cv-08048-SVW-JC Document 143 Filed 12/02/19 Page 1 of 6 Page ID #5639

1 L. LIN WOOD. P.C.

L. Lin Wood (pre hac vice)
Iwood@linwoodlaw.com

Nicole J. Wade (pro hac vice)
nwade@linwoodlaw.com

Jonathan D. Grunberg (pro hac vice)
jgrunberg@linwoodlaw.com

G. Taylor Wilson (pro hac vice)
twilson@linwoodlaw.com

1180 West Peachtree Street, Ste. 2040
Atlanta. Georgia 30309
404-891-1402

404-506-9111 (fax)

| o]

h =, L¥5]

(=3

~1

[#a]

K=]

70.
During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson and Defendant

Wood maintained equal access to all current client files of Defendant LLW PC.
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71.

During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson and Defendant
Wood shared operating expenses, 25% each, including for, inter alia, office space lease, salary
of a non-lawyer employee, file maintenance, website hosting, telephones, internet, cable,
Westlaw, malpractice insurance for Defendant LLW PC, office supplies, copier/scanner,
technical support, file storage and archiving, and other miscellaneous overhead expenses.

Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson Practiced Law Only for LLW PC
72.

During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson practiced law as

attorneys acting solely on behalf of Defendant LLW PC.
73.

During the relevant time period, Defendant Wood originated the majority of the clients
and business at Defendant LLW PC.

74.

Any client originated by Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, or Wilson during the relevant time
period executed an engagement agreement with Defendant LLW PC, was billed by LLW PC,
and made payments to LLW PC.

75.

At no time did WGW LLC, Wade LLC, Grunberg LLC, Wilson LLC, or Grunberg &

Wilson LLC ever enter into an engagement agreement with a client, bill a client, collect fees

from a client, or take any actions to represent a client during the relevant time period.
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76.

For example, while paragraph 1.A of the Settlement Agreement says of each of the
clients in subparagraphs iv, v, and vi that he, she, or it “was and is the client of WGW,” (Ex. A.),
this simply referred to who originated the client and/or would manage the client’s on-going
matter. During the relevant time period: (1) each of those clients had an engagement agreement
with Defendant LLW PC; (2) none of those clients had an engagement agreement with WGW
LLC, Wade LLC, Grunberg LLC, Wilson LLC, or Grunberg & Wilson LLC; (3) Defendants
were counsel of record for each of those clients; and (4) at least one of Wade, Grunberg, or
Wilson were also counsel of record for those clients as attorneys of Defendant LLW PC.

77.

During the relevant time period, every correspondence or court filing made by Plaintiffs
Wade, Grunberg, and/or Wilson on behalf of a client was made in their capacities as attorneys of
LLW PC—with the exception of several letters that may have been sent after January 24, 2020,
bearing the letterhead of the rebranded firm, WWG&W.

78.

At all times during the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson never
represented a client through any law firm other than Defendant LLW PC (or possibly its
rebranded name WWG&W after January 24, 2020).

79.

During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson never entered

into an attorney engagement agreement to represent a client under a firm other than Defendant

LLW PC (or possibly its rebranded name WWG&W after January 24, 2020).
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80.

During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson never made an
appearance in any case on behalf of any client under any firm name other than Defendant LLW
PC.

Individual Plaintiffs Performed Significant Work for All LLW PC Clients
81.

During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson generated nearly

all of the work product for the clients of Defendant LLW PC.
82.

During the relevant time period, one or more of the individual Plaintiffs made an
appearance on behalf of LLW PC in every proceeding in which Defendant LLW PC was counsel
of record, in at least eight different states.

83.

Indeed, as of February 14, 2020, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and/or Wilson originally
authored every pleading, substantive motion, and brief prepared by LLW PC and filed with the
court for the cases subject of the Settlement Agreement for which a lawsuit had been filed, all
pursuant to Defendant Wood’s instruction and supervision, some of which were edited by
Defendant Wood.

84.

During the relevant time period, every hourly fee engagement entered into by and
between Defendant LLW PC and any client specifically listed one or more of Plaintiffs Wade,
Grunberg, or Wilson as attorneys of Defendant LLW PC who were expected to perform work on

behalf of the client.
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85.

During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson communicated

extensively with clients of LLW PC on whose cases they were working.
86.

Specifically, the individual Plaintiffs communicated and worked with the clients for
every case addressed in the Settlement Agreement, in some of those cases acting as the primary
client contact.

The Settlement Agreement
87.

Within 48 hours of Plaintiffs’ departure from LLW PC, and before the individual
Plaintiffs had even discussed re-activating WGW LLC, the Parties began negotiating a resolution
of the issues arising from Plaintiffs’ separation from LLW PC.

88.

On February 17, 2020, the Parties reached an agreement with respect to compensation to
be paid on past and pending cases, which was in line with the compensation that Plaintiffs had
received on other cases and what Plaintiffs expected prior to their departure from LLW PC.

89.

Defendant Wood subsequently reneged on the February 17 agreement — only to agree to

the same fee split one month later when represented by counsel.
90.

As of March 13, Plaintiffs agreed to a Settlement Term Sheet proposed by Defendants

providing, inter alia, that Defendants would pay a specific sum for “fees for the cases identified

in an email dated February 17, 2020 from Taylor Wilson to L. Lin Wood, as set forth in the
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email” so that there would not be “any need for discussion or negotiation about the numbers after
our clients’ deal is signed today.”
91.

On March 17, 2020, Plaintiffs and Defendants entered into the global Settlement
Agreement, which provided that Plaintiffs and Defendants would separate and practice law
separately, which resolved issues regarding compensation to the individual Plaintiffs for their
work on certain of Defendant LLW PC’s pending cases, and which allocated expenses related to
the Lease.

92.

In the Settlement Agreement, the Parties resolved fee disputes: (1) regarding
compensation already earned by Defendant LLW PC on cases for which Plaintiffs Wade,
Grunberg, and Wilson had performed substantial work; (2) regarding compensation to be earned
by Defendant LLW PC for cases on which Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson had
performed substantial work; (3) regarding compensation to be earned by Plaintiff WGW LLC on
cases originating with Defendant LLW PC; and (4) regarding Defendants’ claim that Plaintiffs
owed to Defendant LLW PC rent due under the Lease for LLW PC’s office space after they
departed, even though Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg and Wilson signed the Lease only as partners
of Defendant LLW PC, the Lease does not contain any personal guaranty, and Defendants
evicted Plaintiffs from the space on February 14, 2020.

93.

Specifically, the Settlement Agreement provided that Plaintiffs would pay to Defendant

LLW PC a percentage of fees eventually recovered in three cases that they would take and

continue to work on, and that Defendant LLW PC would pay Plaintiffs a specific dollar amount
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of its fees collected on three separate cases that had either officially or functionally been resolved
but for which Defendant LLW PC had not yet been paid its attorneys’ fees, as well as fees to be
collected in connection with several other cases that had not yet resolved.

94.

Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson performed substantial work—if not the majority
of the work—during the relevant time period on behalf of LLW PC on each of the cases for
which Defendants agreed to compensate Plaintiffs in the Settlement Agreement.

95.

Plaintiffs were not compensated for any of their substantial work on the cases included in
the Settlement Agreement, but Plaintiffs reasonably expected compensation from Defendant
LLW PC based on the firm’s practice and procedure and assurances by Defendant Wood.

96.

During the relevant time period, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and/or Wilson had
communicated and worked with each client whose cases were included in the Settlement
Agreement, such that each client was familiar with the fact that one of more of the individual
Plaintiffs was working on his, her, or their case.

97.

In regard to the three cases that were already settled or functionally settled, Defendant
LLW PC agreed to pay Plaintiffs a specific dollar amount, with payment to be made within
seventy-two hours of LLW PC’s receipt of its portion of the fees in the Disputed Case, less

payment for a portion of the Lease.
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98.

Thus, as drafted by Defendants, the Settlement Agreement provided that all payments
from Defendant LLW PC would become due and owing only upon receipt of the proceeds for its
attorneys’ fees from the Disputed Case.

99.

At all times during the relevant time period, including at the time the Settlement

Agreement was executed, Defendants were counsel for the clients in the Disputed Case.
100.

Following execution of the Settlement Agreement, Defendants reported to Plaintiffs on
multiple occasions regarding the status of the trigger for payment under the Settlement
Agreement.

101.

Subsequently, however, Defendants advised Plaintiffs (through counsel) of their
purported belief that client consent was required for the payments to Plaintiffs agreed to in the
Settlement Agreement pursuant to Georgia Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5(e), that the client in
the Disputed Case refused consent, and that after off-setting the fees to be paid to Plaintiffs from
the other cases that had already been resolved, Plaintiffs owed Defendant LLW PC a significant
sum pursuant to Paragraph 2 of the Settlement Agreement concerning the Lease.

102.

With respect to the Lease, the Settlement Agreement provides as follows: “WGW shall
pay to LLW PC the amount of [redacted] in full satisfaction of any obligations WGW may have,
or be alleged to have, under the lease agreement ...” which “amount shall be deducted from the

payment by LLW PC to WGW referenced in Section 1(B) above.”
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103.

Thus, there is no provision in the Settlement Agreement requiring Plaintiffs to
affirmatively pay to Defendants any amount of money, nor any time frame by which Plaintiffs
would have to do so. Instead, the Settlement Agreement explicitly provides for a net lump sum
payment to Plaintiffs.

104.

Despite Defendants’ counsel expressly intertwining the payments to Plaintiffs with the
Lease payment, and despite Defendants’ receipt and retention of all fees in the resolved cases
subject of the Settlement Agreement, Defendant LLW PC stated its intent to hold Plaintiffs liable
for the Lease payment.

105.

Thereafter, Plaintiffs notified Defendants that Georgia Rule of Professional Conduct
1.5(e) does not apply to this situation because the rule governs only “lawyers who are not in the
same firm” and that it does not “regulate division of fees to be received in the future for work
done when lawyers were previously associated in a law firm.” See Rule 1.5, cmt. 8.

106.

Prior to the execution of the Settlement Agreement, Defendants did not seek client
consent for the purpose of paying compensation to Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson as a
matter of practice, both for hourly and contingency arrangements, and only Defendant LLW PC
was listed as receiving fees in the settlement statement sent to clients following settlement of a

contingency fee case.
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107.

Upon information and belief, over seventy-hours (72) have passed since Defendant LLW
PC received funds identified in the Settlement Agreement as the trigger for Defendants’ payment
to Plaintiffs.

108.

Thus, Defendants are obliged to pay to Plaintiffs the liquidated sum due under the

Settlement Agreement, as well as additional funds due to Plaintiffs.
109.

Plaintiffs have repeatedly demanded that Defendants honor their obligation to pay
Plaintiffs the liquidated sum for fees required by the Settlement Agreement, as well as additional
funds due to Plaintiffs, and have reminded Defendants’ counsel of the facts and allegations
contained herein.

110.

Defendants have continued in bad faith to refuse to pay the amount they agreed to pay

Plaintiffs under the Settlement Agreement.

Detailed Facts Pertinent to Fraud Claims

Deterioration of the Law Firm
111.
Beginning in the fall of 2019 and continuing through 2020, Defendant Wood’s behavior
became increasingly erratic, hostile, abusive, and threatening toward Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg,

and Wilson, as well as many other individuals.
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112.

While in the years before the Fall of 2019, Defendant Wood could at times be abusive,

his bad behavior became far more serious and persistent than in years past.
113.

Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson nevertheless remained in Defendant LLW PC
because they were committed to serving as attorneys for a trial scheduled for early-December
2020, and Defendant Wood repeatedly assured them he would be stepping away from the
practice of law after the trial ended.

114.

Throughout late 2019 and January and February 2020, abusive, incoherent phone calls,
voicemails, texts, and emails by Defendant Wood to Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson sent
in the middle of the night were the norm”. All of these erratic communications have a few things
in common: most of these emails profess that God or the Almighty was commanding his
actions; many were stating his refusal to pay the Plaintiffs “one thin dime;” and virtually all were
abusive.

115.

Defendant Wood’s behavior continued to deteriorate, including assault and battery on

Wilson in Defendant Wood’s home after he had traveled there to check on Wood. In the Fall of

2019, Defendant Wood also committed assault and battery on Grunberg in an elevator of a hotel

2 Although relevant, Plaintiffs will avoid pleading the specifics of Defendant Wood’s erratic behavior prior

to February 14, 2020—except as to facts specifically and demonstrably related to Defendants’ fraudulent and
malicious intent to induce Plaintiffs to enter into the Settlement Agreement that Defendants would ultimately refuse
to honor. Furthermore, the vast majority of the alleged communications below were made by Defendant Wood, and
there is a noticeable void of responses by Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson—who refused to respond in kind
to Defendant Wood’s behavior.
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during an out of town deposition. In both assaults, there was essentially no reason whatsoever
for the attack, and Defendant Wood later acknowledged and apologized for this violence.
116.

Defendant Wood, himself, acknowledged during late 2019 that his behavior was abusive
on October 2, 2019, when he e-mailed Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson, stating, in
relevant part, “The Boss, Pops, Lin, Asshole — whatever you wish to call me — knows that I have
allowed a combination of pressures over the past many weeks, if not months, to become
justifications for treatment of each of you, to varying degrees and at various times, that can only
be described as rude, overly demanding, and at times abusive.”

117.

Unfortunately, that acknowledgement changed nothing and his behavior toward Plaintiffs

Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson continued to worsen.
118.

On February 10, 2020, Defendant Wood contacted Plaintiffs and begged for them to
come to his house around 1:00 am, which Plaintiffs Grunberg and Wade did. Once there,
Defendant Wood urged them to stay with him until morning, with Plaintiff Grunberg leaving at
approximately 4:30 am and Plaintiff Wade leaving after sunrise. This experience unnerved the
Plaintiffs.

119.
That day, Plaintiffs Grunberg and Wilson confronted Defendant Wood about his

behavior.
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120.

Even at that early juncture, Defendant Wood immediately threatened Plaintiff Wilson that
leaving his firm was “professional suicide” and threatened not to pay Wilson the money he was
owed for his work in the Disputed Case, stating as follows: “let me tell you what’s gonna
happen to you ... watch what happens with the [Disputed Case] fee. I’ll show you what I think
of what you’ve done to me.”

121.

That evening, Defendant Wood called Plaintiff Wade and, during a call that lasted
approximately two hours, Wood advised Wade that he was going to destroy Plaintiffs Grunberg
and Wilson. During this conversation, Defendant Wood could not help but revisit his obsession
with Plaintiff Wilson’s wife, stating: “by the time I am through with Taylor Wilson, he’s going
to wish all I had done was fuck his wife.”

122.

On February 11, 2020, at 1:03 a.m., Defendant Wood e-mailed Plaintiffs Wade,
Grunberg, and Wilson, firing the Plaintiffs and changing the firm, while insisting that Plaintiffs
had the “fiduciary duties” of partners, stating, in material part, as follows’:

Taylor, Jonathan, and Nicole,

Effectively immediately, the law firm of L. Lin Wood, P.C. hereby withdraws
from any and all law partnerships with your law firms and you, including, but not
limited to the partnership of Wood, Wilson, Grunberg & Wade....

3 To protect the privacy of many third parties, Plaintiffs will not be tendering copies of
Defendant Wood’s e-mail correspondence and other communications with this Complaint but
provide as much context as is appropriate in each quote.
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I want Taylor and Jonathan physically out of my office space as soon as possible.
I am willing to be more lenient with Nicole but I want the physical separation of
the lawyers from 1180 West Peachtree St., Suite 2040 executed with no delay....

I request that each of you provide me with a list of outstanding cases of LLW PC
on which you are presently working.... I would like from each of you the number
of hours (with description) you each have expended on the [Disputed Case].
Hours on the pending [redacted] can be submitted separately by end of week. If
you have any other [redacted] hours ... please include them with some reasonable
detail by the end of the week....

In meantime, I remind you of the fiduciary duty of non-disparagement which
shall be strictly enforced. You are hereby prohibited from contacting any of my
clients, referring attorneys or co-counsel without my specific written
authorization....

(Emphasis in original).
123.

Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson began moving out of Defendant LLW PC’s office
space on February 11, 2020.

124.

By the afternoon of that same day, February 11, 2020, Defendant Wood had completely
changed his mind and left voicemails for each of Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson,
rescinding his withdrawal from their partnership and their eviction from his office space. For
example, Defendant Wood stated in part in a voicemail to Plaintiff Wade:

... This law firm is going to go forward as Wood, Wilson, Grunberg & Wade.
Business as usual is back now being business as usual. Keep doing what you’re
doing on the cases you’re doing. I don’t need your hours in the [Disputed] case
— I never have. No reason to do it now except in billable cases. ... We are
going to continue as a partnership. A partnership under that name that is going
to be one of the great partnerships in the history of the law. . . . I’'m going to ask

you to do the big word “T.” Trust me. ... I’m going to let God’s will be done
for our law firm. . . Everything I said in that letter last night is rescinded.
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125.

Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson decided to give it one more shot in the hopes of

helping Defendant Wood and in the hopes that the work environment would return to status quo.
126.

On February 13, 2020, the day before all 5 people who worked for Defendant Wood at
Defendant LLW PC terminated their employment, Defendant Wood hosted an approximately
3.5-hour teleconference with Plaintiffs Grunberg and Wilson in which he spoke almost non-stop.

127.

During the 3.5-hour teleconference, Defendant Wood referred to himself as Almighty;
offered to fight the individual Plaintiffs to the death; demanded the Plaintiffs’ undying loyalty;
threatened to “hurt” the Plaintiffs; offered to have the Plaintiffs stay in the firm; and called
Plaintiff Grunberg a “Chilean Jew” and demanded that he admit he does not look like the other
lawyers in the firm. Unfortunately, the list goes on, as reflected by the following pertinent
portion of the transcript of the call (except as indicated by brackets and double quotation marks,
the words are Defendant Wood’s):

... I own that office. Y’all know that now. I showed you who had power, didn’t

I? But I didn’t exercise it. Cause I right now would never do anything in the

exercise of my power do anything to hurt any of y’all or your families. Do you

believe me? Cause if you don’t believe that, this conversation is over. It will not

be a problem solved. If you tell me you believe that, and I just showed you that,

by not hurting you, by showing you who had the power to hurt ya, to hurt

your families, to hurt your law careers, and didn’t exercise it, yes or no, let’s

get a vote. Taylor, does everyone in that room believe, believe, choose to believe,

that Lin Wood would never exercise his power in a fashion that he knew would

hurt any one of you, personally or professionally, including your families, and

your legacy as a lawyer. Yes or no, guys, gal? [Said by Wilson] “Lin, I

certainly.” I just wanted a yes or no, I didn’t ask for a discussion, and I own that
office and if you don’t do what I say this time, you’re gonna pack your bags,
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that’s how much power I have, I don’t wanna exercise that power, it would hurt
you, don’t force me, that’s the point.

I’'m telling you I have the power to hurt you and would never do so, and if you
don’t believe I have the power to hurt you, you are wrong. I can hurt you the
minute I take you off that name [Wood, Wilson, Grunberg & Wade]. That will be
a bad stain on your life, and if you try to hurt me back, you will be laughed
at. Anybody in this law office that attacks Lin Wood may be right, but
everybody’s gonna disrespect you for doing it. There’s a time to speak. There’s a
time to be silent. You people don’t know the difference....

Now, would you accept this kind and loving admonishment. I could have thrown
by my own free will every damn one of you out of my law office, off of the damn
letterhead with my name on it, and Nicole is included, by doing one of two things,
I could have pulled my name off that door in a heartbeat if I wanted to ... I could
have pulled all three of your names off of that damn thing and it would just be me,
if I wanted to I’d have the power to do it, right? ...

... If you keep showing me disrespect, Jonathan, there’s gonna be a man come up
there in your office ... but if you ever don’t give me respect in that office,
knowingly ... but if I ever discern that I think you are disrespecting me in that law
office, that little man or woman is gonna come up in ten minutes and they’re
gonna throw your ass out. Do you understand, whether you agree with it or not,
you concede that I have the power to do it. Do you understand what’s gonna
happen to ya if you ever, if I ever discern that you show me an act of disrespect
again? ... if you [interrupt me] in a disrespectful way, in my judgment alone, any
one of the three of you is gonna be escorted out of my law office within ten
minutes ... they’re gonna take you out and throw you on the street if they want to
... do you understand what I’'m telling you? Cause if you don’t we got a
problem. You hear me? Does everybody hear me? Now I’'m gonna tell you
something very surprising, y’all just heard from the Almighty Lin and it sounds
powerful and you believe it don’t ya? ... Almighty Lin just told you what would
happen if he thinks you ever, in his opinion, discerns that you’re being
disrespectful to me by anything other than an accident or mistake, he’s gonna
throw you out. Ya hear me? ... Now Almighty Lin’s gonna tell you this ... the
power that I just had can change your life if I ever decide ... even if it’s good or
bad, I can change your life with the exercise of that power, right? ...

I’ll commit sins. I’ll [physically] push you when you piss me off. Maybe you
deserve it and I’m the only one that will inflict it upon you because I’'m the only
one that has the courage to tell you the lesson you fucked up don’t do it again.
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Swear I’ll never do it again to either one of you, although interestingly I’ve done
it to both of you at once. I’ll never do it to you again. Don’t ever do anything that
would even make me think about doing it again. Cause I might make the same
mistake then that I made then, I might push you and I wouldn’t mean to hurt you.
I wouldn’t mean to push you around, especially cause either one of you would
whip my ass or maybe you wouldn’t cause you don’t have the courage I have.
Maybe I would fight you till you damn die. Or both of us died. Cause I got
courage inside of every bone in my body that you’ll never know. I wish you had
it. I wish everybody had it. Everybody doesn’t have it guys. You’re practicing
law with a man that has courage, to take on the big ones....

The best man you’ll ever see in life won’t be your daddy, Taylor. It won’t be
your daddy, Jonathan. It won’t be your daddy, [redacted]. The best damn man
you’ve ever met in life is Lin Wood. Don’t you forget it.... Or just plain member
of one damn law firm, like we all are....

One nation, one law firm, one law firm, under law, all members are created
equal. All members of this one law firm are the same....

128.

By the date of the 3.5-hour teleconference on February 13, 2020, Defendant Wood had

effectively not been in the office for weeks since a December 2019 trial—with the exception of
several brief appearances at the office. And from the time that Defendant Wood and Plaintiffs
Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson traveled to and attended a hearing out-of-state in mid-January, the
only time any of the Plaintiffs had seen Wood was when he assaulted Plaintiff Wilson on January
27th and when Plaintiffs Grunberg and Wade were called to his home in the early morning hours

of February 10th when Defendant Wood called them over saying it was a matter of life or death.

Defendant Wood spent most of this period outside of Atlanta.

129.

All of LLW PC’s cases were being handled primarily by one or more of the individual

Plaintiffs, who coordinated with third party co-counsel. And LLW PC had active co-counsel
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outside the firm in every active case as of February 14, 2020, all of whom were on notice when
Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson left the firm.
130.
Defendant Wood called for an in-person meeting on the morning of February 14, 2020.
131.

In the hours preceding this February 14 meeting, Defendant Wood repeatedly called
Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson, berating them, and also threatening them with alleged
civil claims arising from their purported fiduciary duty as his law partners not to disparage him,
although he failed to specify what words or actions he felt were disrespectful.

132.

Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson — together with the only other two employees of
Defendant LLW PC — all walked out of the LLW PC offices prior to Defendant Wood arriving
out of fear for their physical safety.

133.

All five were forced to terminate their employment and association with Defendants on
February 14, 2020.

134.

Immediately thereafter, Defendant Wood asked building security to escort all five out of
the office, and he then changed the locks to the Leased space.

135.

At this point, Defendant Wood began a series of irrational and incomprehensible email,

text, and voicemail threats. All of these emails, most of which were sent in the middle of the

night, have a few common themes: False and manufactured accusations that Plaintiffs did some
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heinous federal crimes that he has chosen not to identify, Defendant is doing God’s will, and
Defendant will never pay the Plaintiffs anything, while reiterating nonetheless that the individual
Plaintiffs were his law partners.

136.

On February 15, 2020, at 1:42 am, Defendant Wood e-mailed Plaintiff Wilson and 13
others, stating again that he felt he had somehow been victimized by some unspecified action
which required him bringing down the “wrath of God” and referencing punishment “at the
discretion of Almighty God.”

137.

Two hours later, at 3:45 a.m., Defendant Wood e-mailed Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and
Wilson, as well as 9 others, to continue his incoherent allegations and his belief that God was
somehow commanding him or directing him to accuse the Plaintiffs and repeating his threat
never to pay the Plaintiffs anything for their services. He began the email by stating “God has
given me permission to be profane in this email, which is my last email of the night,” and
additionally stating, in material part, as follows:

You damn dumb motherfuckers.

You have now subjected yourselves and your families to the fact that you are all
guilty of federal crimes. And you are going to be ruined financially, if necessary,
in civil and criminal lawsuit. You committed computer fraud today and possibly
bank fraud. Your lies and fraud upon law firms and your employers are going to
come back quickly to haunt you for the rest of your lives.

You fucked with the wrong guy. You fucked with Lin Wood. Bad fucking
choice.

Here are the findings of your final judgment day on earth for today, the day after
my Valentine’s Day massacre:
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Taylor, you’re not going to get one thin dfilme from me on any case. That
includes [cases subject of the Settlement Agreement, including the Disputed
Case]. Sue me. You will lose. You can tell your co-conspirators, Nicole,
Jon[a]tha[n], [redacted] and [redacted]. All the damn criminal conspirator wars
who deleted emails and Word documents related to the [redacted] and [redacted]
cases are in fucking serious criminal and civil exposure.... You are all dumb as
hell. T am not. I will be setting up a meeting next week with the US Attorney for
the Northern District of Georgia. He will meet with me. He knows who I am.
You apparently never did.... Nobody fucks with me and [redacted]. You have
been all been playing your Bullshit games of lies for too long. Too long is too
long. Always has been. Always shall be. God Almighty told me to get you back
to where you belong. Broke and essentially homeless. ...

The fact that you, Taylor, involved innocent people like [redacted] and maybe
even [redacted], is going to haunt you and your wife and your children for the rest
of your lives on earth. Shame on you. You are disgusting....

You all better get on your knees and pray to Almighty God that He now asks me
to show you mercy. If he does, I will show it, if he does not, I will deliver a fiery
Jjudgment against you on earth. Who the fuck did you think you were dealing
with? You were screwing around me with, but I was someone else in disguise.
You in fact have been screwing around with God Almighty. I am not God. You
lied when you told others that I thought I was.... I am L. Lin Wood — the sole
member of L. Lin Wood, P.C. The architect of the most masterful and powerful
Valentine’s Day massacre known in American history. The last one killed seven.
Mine will ruin many more before it is over. Deservedly so.

You are the ones who are crazy, not me. You are all the fools, not me. You are
all driven by fame and fortune, not me.... You are going to have to spend every
day for the rest of your lives on earth by your every act and deed proving to God
that you are genuinely sorry for the sins you have committed against HIM. I’'m
not going to waste anymore time listing your sins. You know them. God knows
them....

Buckle up your damn seatbelts. Unless I change my mind under the instructions
of God, you are in for the roughest ride of your lives. I'm going to teach you all a

lesson that you are going to learn....

I shall sleep well tonight even though I’'m writing a bunch of crazy people at a
crazy person’s hour. I live on God’s time clock. This sane man had a lot of
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business to conduct tonight. Business that God Almighty exposed to him and told
him to expose to others.

I bet it’s going to be a long, long time before any of you ever sleep well again.
Taylor, you are a damn pussy. You didn’t even have the balls to show up for your
little meeting that I already knew you were going to try to have before you had
it....

Good night. I know you will not sleep well.

PS: Taylor, tell all of you damn co-conspirators that their asses are in criminal
and civil liability trouble. Be sure to tell Jonathan and Nicole. I listened to that
damn blowhard Jonathan run his mouth. At midday, silently. Because I knew
that I was getting ready to slam his ass deep into the ground with [when] my time
came. My time came. His ass in trouble and this time, ke will not land on his 2
feet [a reference to Plaintiff Grunberg’s handicap after he had a rock climbing
incident falling from more than 40 feet in the air resulting in several surgeries and
permanent disabilities]. He will be on his damn two knees begging me and
Almighty God for mercy. They will never get a dime from me. [ dare you to sue
me for it. You don’t have the balls to do it and if you do it, you shall lose and in
the process, lose more of your damn asses if there’s anything left of your assess
after I finish with your assess tomorrow if you don’t call [redacted] and beg for
mercy like damn dogs begging for a damn piece of meat after not eating for 3
months. I think my message is clear. God has now asked me to refrain for the
rest of this night and tomorrow from further profanity. I shall always follow my
God’s’s [sic] will and never anyone’s on earth, including mine.

Last word, if any of you get within missile range of my office or home, I will
have you arrested. You make one more threat, at false accusation or attempt to

interrupt me and as far as I’m concerned, you can all rot to hell in jail.

You know me, always one more last word.... It’s not going to be pretty for you.
Fraud is never pretty. Ask Michael Avenatti. Never has been. Never shall.

Good night.

L. Lin Wood

(Emphasis added).
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138.
Plaintiff Wilson responded respectfully on February 15, 2020 at 8:15 a.m., denying
Defendant Wood’s fantastical accusations and conspiracy theories.
139.
Defendant Wood responded, again copying the 9 additional individuals, stating, in
material part, as follows:

Keep lying. USDOJ shall be checking ALL computers. I know liars. You been
lying ever since your yelled at me and accused me of being insane. Liar.

You miserably lying sack of shit. You low life lying snake....

You are ALL in trouble. Big trouble. Computer fraud. Conspiracy to commit
computer fraud. Violation of fiduciary duties. Conspiracy to violate fiduciary
duties. Slander and defamation. Conspiracy to slander and defame. Conspiracy
to interfere with my business relations, including clients and co-counsel. I think
you are in more criminal and civil trouble than the former big mouth, Michael
Avenatti.

Your time would best be served on your knees telling me you are sorry....

Best outcome for you in eternity Is Hell for repeatedly interfering with God’s
commandment to children to honor their father.

I will make sure that you never practice law again ever if you do not admit your
sins, all of them by 10:30 am. Extensions grants each quarter hour thereafter
depending on the amount of truth you tell me with each email. Start with
admitting your lies.

Tell the truth or suffer through full pains thereafter....

I want those facts by 10:30 AM. If you want to have a chance to save your
future for your career, yourself and your family. You better come clean and tell
the truthgiver the truth starting NOW.

I am going to learn that information in a criminal case involving you if necessary.
I am going to learn that information from you in a civil case involving you that is
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an almost certainty. Your best chance for mercy from L. Lin Wood is for you to
start pouring the truth on me regarding information on [redacted]/[redacted] by
10:30 AM this morning. Save your child. Save your wife. Save your life....

Your [sic] are doing to want a major dose of mercy from me. The sooner you
come clean, the better. The longer it takes, the worse....

(Emphasis added).
140.
On February 15, 2020, at 2:18 pm, Defendant Wood left a voicemail for Plaintiff Wilson
stating, in material part, as follows:

Taylor Wilson, your former partner... You're lucky you and I share something in
common: I care about and love your wife, I care about and love your little
boy. Right now, I don’t give a damn about you. But if I hurt you bad enough, it’s
gonna hurt them. I don’t wanna hurt you, Taylor.... I want you to tell me in an
email in 15 minutes who in the hell asked for those computer files to be deleted. I
think it was Jonathan Grunberg. I think he did it because [redacted] wanted it
done... I'm going after [redacted]. I’ve already gone after [redacted]. . .. I'm
going to get [redacted]. I don’t want to get you cause it will hurt your wife and
your child. Send me an email and just tell me the truth without getting a lawyer,
without trying to cover your ass ...

141.

After leaving voicemails for Plaintiff Wilson and Grunberg stating that he felt that
Plaintiff Grunberg was the chief force behind these unspecified criminal acts, on February 17,
2020 at 12:17 a.m., Defendant Wood left a voicemail for Plaintiff Wilson stating, in material
part, as follows:

Taylor, I hate to call you at 12:14 am because it’s the act of a crazy man, but it’s
not son. You need to watch out for Nicole Wade. She would be the person that
would go in and get this information. She’s evil.... [Redacted] was sent here by
[redacted].... The FBI is going to be involved tomorrow. There’s going to be
some serious stuff going down. Watch your ass. I'm telling you. Watch out for
Nicole Wade... You don’t want to be unwittingly involved in a federal
crime. [Redacted] could go to jail for the rest of his life.... If I’'m right about
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Nicole, she’s gonna come crashing down. She’ll try to take everybody down that
she can. I know Nicole Wade... He’s gonna be in federal trouble because the FBI
is on it. I don’t want you to get hurt, Taylor... I love you. This is the time to
understand that Lin Wood really loves you. Cause I'm trying to give you
information to protect you and your family. You got some thieves and criminals
around you. Don’t get involved it in OK...

142.

That same day at 6:16 a.m., Defendant Wood sent to Plaintiff Wilson and 8 other
individuals an e-mail stating, in material part, as follows:

All,

Attached is the IC3 Complaint Referral Form I filed with the FBI this morning

related to [redacted] and his co-conspirators this morning....

143.

In Defendant Wood’s FBI complaint alleging federal crimes, Defendant Wood refers to
Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson as “one or more former members of my law firm of L.
Lin Wood, P.C.” (Emphasis added).

144.

Defendant Wood followed up with another voicemail to Plaintiff Wilson on February 17,

2020, at 7:18 a.m., stating, in material part, as follows:

... You have damn fucked up your life. Shame on you. Your wife, your kid. I
take back everything I said nice about you. You better get the word, that
somebody better call me, and somebody better get over to my damn house, and
tell me what the hell the truth is about what y’all did.... You people gotta get a
criminal lawyer.... I'm gonna burn your asses. Y’all fucked up. Shame on
you.... You’re a son of a bitch, Taylor Wilson. And you gonna rot in hell when
I’m done with you, buddy, you got that? Pass that message to every damn one of
them.... All of y’all are going down.... Goodbye sir. Get me the name of the
person that’s gonna get me the damn truth about this and they better call me in 30
fucking minutes. You hear the rage? You ain't seen nothing yet, buddy. Goodbye.
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145.
Defendant Wood followed up with another voicemail to Plaintiff Wilson on February 17,
2020 at 7:23 a.m., stating as follows:

Let me tell you something you little snotty ass son of a bitch. Don’t write me
back and tell me you’re taking care of your son. Your son’s looking into the eyes
of a damn low life, cheating, lying, probably criminal defendant. How could you
do this to your family, Taylor? The FBI’s not gonna play around. You’ve all
engaged in computer fraud. I don’t give a damn whether you did it or if Nicole
did it. I know who did it, and you got [redacted] involved in it. You’ve ruined
everybody’s life. You’re not gonna get one thin dime from me. Sue me. 1don’t
think they allow you to file lawsuits like that when you’re behind
bars. Somebody better call me, put their baby down, and give me the damn truth
if there’s gonna be any mercy shown by anybody for you, including the FBI,
cause I’'m one of their number one witnesses. [Redacted] is going to jail. Don’t
go with him. Quit playing your games ya snotty ass little bastard, you came in
here and ran your damn mouth in my office and yelled at me. You’re lucky I’'m
not with you right now, Taylor, cause 1’d do to you what I’d do to [redacted]
and I’d beat your ass with a switch till you couldn’t sit down for 20 fucking
years.

146.
Also on February 17, 2020, Defendant Wood left a voicemail for Plaintiff Grunberg
stating, in material part, as follows:

I’'m gonna be a little calmer with you than I have been with Taylor and [redacted]
on their voicemail messages, Jonathan Grunberg, you sorry slimy piece of shit.
How do you look at those babies? I've got it all, I know what y’all been doing.
But here’s your problem, you teamed up with [redacted], he’s going to federal
penitentiary, I’'m afraid y’all need criminal defense attorneys, in fact I know, I've
been up all night dealing with this, I’ve locked it all down.... The FBI’s gonna be
knocking on your door, Jonathan. You need to go get a criminal defense lawyer.
Somebody in that damn former piece of shit firm I had better get on the phone and
tell me the damn truth so I can tell the FBI that at least somebody’s gonna be
good to them and cooperate. You got in bed with [redacted] and you
manufactured shit from [redacted].... In the process, you look at those two little
babies, you hurt them. You look at your wife, you hurt her. You’re not gonna
get one thin dime from me about anything. You might even get sued by me.
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What the hell were you thinking. Man oh man, you’re glad you’re not with me in
an elevator with me right now buddy [referring to his prior battery of Grunberg],
cause you’re damn lucky, I’m that mad.... That’s how serious it is you little
fucker. You look in the mirror and you’re gonna see a Chilean Jewish fucking
crook. Goodbye, Jonathan ... you sorry bastard.

147.

Then on February 18, 2020, at 8:20 a.m., Defendant Wood recanted every one of his
accusations in an e-mail to Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson, along with 18 other
individuals, subject “Correction and Retraction of False Accusations,” stating, in material part, as
follows:

I know that I am generally recognized as an experienced and skilled lawyer in the
area of First Amendment defamation law. I am also by my own admission, fully
capable of being a dumb ass or worse. Given some of my recent emails and the
filing of a IC3 Complaint Referral Form [with the FBI], the latter description may
be more applicable to me than the former....

The primary purpose of this email is [sic] correct and retract some very hurtful
and false accusations that I recently made against [redacted], [redacted],
[redacted], [redacted], and my current law partners and employees. In the
worse example of a defamer, I published accusatory statements with incomplete
information and out of anger, coupled with a tried brain and body....

Allow me to make clear that in all of the recipients of this email, there is not a
dishonest or criminal bone in any of their bodies. 1 say this unequivocally and in
direct contradiction to any suggestions or accusations or statements that I may
have made against anyone on this email. In recent days. My legal career has
been one of pursuing for truth and achieving justice which I define as providing
fairness and respect to all within our legal system. The recent emails to which I
refer are the worst examples of the failure by an individual — ME — to pursue truth
and achieve justice. My statements against the identified individuals were not
true and inflicted an injustice upon them, and all of the recipients[.] In addition to
asking for your forgiveness, I want to make it very clear that the individuals who
were falsely accused are innocent of any wrongdoing and are encouraged to seek
any further remedies against me for my wrongdoing, which they feel are
appropriate or necessary.

45



With the help of [redacted], [redacted], [redacted], and individuals identified by
[redacted], I have now completed an examination of my office computer system,
and while my office computer system was hacked, no accused individual was
involved in any manner in that improper and illegal activity. After careful
examination, no office emails have been deleted or otherwise altered in a manner
that was not intended by authorized users of my system. If I had bothered to
undertake the complete examination prior to making my unfounded accusations, I
would never have made the accusations against the individuals....

For the past several months, particularly since Thanksgiving, I have been
besieged by a variety of individuals, all of whom I love dearly with their own
concerns about my mental health and my relationship with [redacted].... Sadly, I
did not serve well the best interest of my [redacted] and making my false
statements and accusations against others. I can only hope and pray that my
stupidity serves as a shining example to them of why statements should always be
investigated before published and should never be made out of a state of mind that
might alter reality. I have assessed my mental health and spent some time with
[redacted] discussing it. I am a little crazy, but I’'m also mainly sane and possess
a healthy mind....

I love each and every one of individuals on this email and I love and respect
[redacted] as a law firm. I hope and pray that my own law partners at the present
time and all of the individuals who serve me so well at my firm will be willing to
forgive me and continue to practice with me in the profession I love dearly and
have loved for 43 years.....

(Emphasis added).
148.
Unfortunately, three hours later, Defendant Wood changed his mind again. On February
18, 2020 at 11:38 a.m., Defendant Wood e-mailed co-counsel in the Disputed Case stating, in
material part, as follows:

[Redacted],
Please inform your firm members that Taylor is NOT to be copied on any other

emails on any [Disputed Case] matters. He and the former members of my firm
will not be working on any of the other [Disputed Case] in the future. We have
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reached a binding agreement on other cases so their transfer out of L. Lin Wood,
P.C. will be smooth going forward despite the recent bumps....

The former members of my firm are now off to a new and exciting adventure of
their own....

(Emphasis added).
149.

At midnight, however, Defendant Wood changed his mind yet again. Following this e-
mail, and on February 19, 2020, Defendant Wood made multiple requests to Plaintiff Wilson for
the individual Plaintiffs to return to work. Wilson, continuing to try to avoid Wood’s wrath,
politely declined to return to work at Defendant LLW PC.

150.

After Plaintiff Wilson again refused to return to work at Defendant LLW PC with
Defendant Wood, Wood left Wilson another voicemail on February 19, 2020 at 6:29 p.m., in
contradiction to all other prior statements he had made, contrary to the Lease for the LLW PC
office space, and contrary to the Parties’ February 17 agreement, stating as follows:

Taylor, hey buddy, give me one call back tonight, cause I’'m close to making a
decision. [Redacted] is not coming back, and I that’s a good thing, I think that I
need a clean break. And, I don’t want to stay in that space and I don’t need to
cause I don’t need the space as much as y’all do, and that means y’all gotta pick it
up or pay three quarters of the lease. Y’all are indemnitors on that, each one of ya
individually. I’m the, L. Lin Wood, P.C., is the leaseholder, and then our liability
is a fourth, a fourth, a fourth, y’all signed it, so you’ve got three quarters of the
liability for that space. I figured under that scenario, y’all would wanna come up
and take the space, strike a deal with me, I’ll pay my quarter but I’'m not gonna
pay it up front, I’'m not gonna pay it over the months, we’d have to kind of present
cash dollar it down. Or, if you don’t do that, Taylor, and I’'m stuck with that lease,
I’m gonna have to hold every dime of your [Disputed Case] money against your
liability until the end of that lease. So, it’s easier for me to move out, which I’d
like to do, candidly, Taylor, and for y’all to stay in there. That may be the win-
win. So, give me a call and let me know what you think. Bye bye.
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151.

Defendant Wood left a similar voicemail on February 19, 2020, for Plaintiff Grunberg,
threatening that he would hold Plaintiffs liable on the Lease for which they are not, and never
were, liable, and that he would withhold the money he agreed to pay in the February 17
agreement until the Lease was satisfied.

152.

Defendant Wood then e-mailed Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson on February 19,

2020, at 8:01 p.m., along with four other individuals, stating, in material part, as follows:

Nicole, Jonathan, and Taylor:

... As Nicole has heard me say before, I do not intend to pay you “one thin
dime” in satisfaction of your legal obligations....

Until the matter is resolved between us and the building, I do not intend to make
any payments to you on fees owed to you in any case. 1 will escrow the amount
that I agreed to pay you until I am satisfied that my escrow account has covered
me for your amount of the entire remaining lease obligation and other legal
liabilities you owe to me for your misconduct....

(Emphasis added).
153.
Even after recanting all of his false and malicious accusations against Plaintiffs Wade,
Grunberg, and Wilson, one day later on February 19, 2020, at 8:01 p.m., Wood again accused
Plaintiffs of unspecified acts, referring to himself as “their partner” and threatening to hurt them

“in the court of public opinion.”
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154.
The next morning, Defendant Wood had changed his mind again and wanted to profess
his love for Plaintiffs. On February 20, 2020, Defendant Wood left a voicemail for Plaintiff
Grunberg stating, in material part, as follows:

Jonathan ... I want y’all to come over to my house tonight. I don’t want another
night of this nonsense that y’all have created. If ya wanna go to war and you
think you’re gonna beat me, you’re gonna lose. I got ya every which way,
coming and going.... The last thing you wanna do is start off your law firm,
before you even get started getting crushed by me, and I got the power to do it.. ..
I’ve been two steps ahead of you at every damn.... I love you, I love your family,
I love your babies....

155.
That same day, Defendant Wood emailed again to profess his love, and this time to make
a variety of threats, all based upon his desire to get Plaintiffs to help him pay for his Lease.
156.
Defendant Wood followed up with another voicemail to Plaintiff Wilson on February 20,
2020 at 6:59 p.m., stating, in material part, that Plaintiffs had to pay for the Lease and he
threatened to drag out any claims or suits for any amounts that he owed Plaintiffs:

Taylor Wilson, man oh man, it’s your old boss, the guy you love one minute, test
one minute, love one minute, test one minute. Taylor, you’re in a damn mess, and
you know it, and if you don’t, you’re gonna talk to a lawyer and you’re gonna
know it then.

This is not the way to start your law firm, Taylor. Here’s what we’re gonna
do. You’re gonna get off your ass and put your pride aside, and you’re gonna
come over here and you’re gonna talk to me. And I’'m gonna tell you exactly what
I’'m willing to do to get y’all out of the mess you got yourselves in with your
damn foolishness. You’re playing with fire when you come after Lin Wood.

[talking to himself] “Now stop being mad, Lin. Okay, God.”
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Taylor, I don’t want to hurt you guys, but you’ve set it up where I could destroy
you before you even got your foot off the ground. You can’t pay for a
lawyer. You can’t afford to litigate with me and you’re gonna lose, cause you
owe 75% of that lease to me. Not a guarantor, you signed on that for me. I’ll pay
the building, and then I’ll hold your money until I litigate it with you....

If you wanna sit down, Taylor, with me, I’ll be humble, you’ll be humbler. We’ll
talk about what you did wrong, we’ll talk about how you’re gonna fix it. And I’'m
gonna fix it, cause you did just about what I thought you were gonna do. I'm
always one step, two steps ahead of everybody. I see around corners, Taylor.

Now why don’t you come over and talk to me, it won’t take an hour, and we’ll
settle this mess that y’all created? ... But if you wanna go to war, you wanna bash
egos with me, you wanna do your free will versus mine, you re gonna lose and it’s
gonna affect your family and your baby boy, and I’'m not gonna let that happen if |
can avoid it. If it happens, it’s gonna be on your watch, not mine.

So, please, Taylor, stop the foolishness. Come talk to a man that loves you, that
wants you to succeed, that’s taken a lot of abuse from you but at every turn has
reached out and tried to get you to do the right thing. You’re gonna be able to
practice law with your people, you’re not gonna have me around much to worry
about, I'm gonna get out, I wanted to get out, I wanted to be by myself ...
everything’s together, everything in your life is not. Call me, bye.

157.
On February 22, 2020, at 5:07 a.m., Defendant Wood e-mailed Plaintiffs Wade,
Grunberg, and Wilson, and their counsel, stating, in material part, as follows:

[Disputed case] — As you were informed by [redacted], he will deposit ... the
[Disputed Case compensation] into his firm’s escrow account. [The client], not
me, control the amount of fees to be paid to WGW, and the clients will only agree
at best to pay to WGW quantum meruit for services strictly related to the
[Disputed Case] which will be very difficult for WGW to calculate....

(Emphasis added).
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158.
On February 22, 2020 at 7:29 p.m., Defendant Wood e-mailed Plaintiffs’ counsel and a
third party stating, in material part, as follows:

... If I am right, and I and others believe I am, further discord, disagreement, or
even God forbid, litigation will destroy the chances your clients have if [sic]
building a successful and financially viable law firm.... With respect to the
[Disputed Case], your client will have to submit to me their actual hours worked
on the [Disputed Case] and Their proposed hourly rate. Taylor can include any
hours that he feels were reasonably dedicated to [the Disputed Case] when he
began his initial [work]. To be clear, I will not pay Nicole Wade any money on
the [Disputed Case]. So only Jonathan and Taylor need to bother will [sic]
compiling and submitting to you to provide to me their actual hours worked or
their best estimate of them....

(Emphasis added).
159.
On February 25, 2020 at 4:51 a.m., Defendant Wood e-mailed Plaintiffs’ counsel copying
five third parties, referring to Plaintiffs’ counsel’s first name on 66 separate occasions and
otherwise stating, in material part, as follows:

... Take whatever action you and your clients believe is necessary, Drew. I will
be prepared to respond with the full legal wrath and vengeance like an angry God,
Drew....

One last matter, Drew. I shall not voluntarily pay you or your clients one thin
damn dime, Drew.

(Emphasis added).
160.

Shortly thereafter, Defendants engaged their current counsel.
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161.
Hiring new counsel did not stop Defendant Wood from contacting Plaintiffs in a
threatening and abusive manner.
162.
On March 3, 2020, at approximately 10:30 p.m., Defendant Wood called and left a
voicemail for Plaintiff Wilson’s wife professing his love for her and her family in a manner she
found terrifying and stating, in material part, as follows:

[Redacted] Wilson. You’ve got a handsome little baby boy, I need to see him
soon, I know I will. Listen, I know I’'m calling you, I’'m not calling Taylor, I’'m
not supposed to. You’re gonna learn some things, Taylor’s gonna learn some
things in the next day or two, involving Taylor, Nicole, and Jonathan, and me and
the lease. It’s gonna sound bad for him at first. Bad for you. I want you to know
something, [redacted]. I told you I loved you. I told you I loved your son, I love
your husband, Taylor. I'm not gonna let anybody get hurt too badly.... 1 think
Taylor Wilson’s one of the best damn young lawyers I’ve ever seen. A lot of
things about Taylor remind me of me. I meant it every time I told you I love you,
I meant it then I mean it now. I meant every time I told Taylor I loved him, I
meant it then I mean it now. Just relax, hang loose, it’s all gonna be good, it’s not
gonna be good as everybody wants it to be on your side, his side, but it will be
good in the long run.... We’ll talk one day soon. It’ll be when you decide to call
me or maybe we’ll run into each other, but we’ll talk again and we’ll be friends,
cause I love you and you love me. That answers every dispute that we have in
life, doesn’t it? We don’t have disputes, we’re different. We’re different but
we’re alike, we love each other.... I love you and you love me. I love Taylor, he
loves me. We’ll talk soon.... When you listen to this in the next day or two,
you’ll understand why. I see around corners before I cross the corner. Buh-bye,

talk soon.
163.

Throughout this entire ordeal, Defendant Wood has continued to text Plaintiff Wilson’s

wife, despite being instructed to stop by Plaintiffs’ counsel multiple times.
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164.

On March 4, 2020 at 3:40 a.m., Defendant Wood made clear his intentions not to pay any
amounts on the fee distribution agreement he had previously made with Plaintiffs on February 17
when he e-mailed Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson, their counsel, and a third-party,
alleging a series of unspecified criminal conduct in violation of their “fiduciary duties” and
stating, in material part, as follows:

In any event, you may rest assured that I shall never voluntarily pay your
clients one thin damn dime. Your clients shall be required to pay their 75% of
the lease obligations even if they find themselves prohibited from engaging in the
practice of law in the State of Georgia in the future....

(Emphasis added).
165.

Two days after Defendants stated they would not honor the terms of the Settlement
Agreement for the reasons stated herein, Defendant Wood texted Plaintiff Grunberg, again
threatening criminal liability based upon his admittedly blatantly false and recanted conspiracy
theory that Grunberg, along with Defendants’ former law partners, somehow committed some

unspecified criminal act involving tampering with his computers:

The CFAA (“the Computer Fraud and
Abuse Act”) provides for fines up

to $250,000 and imprisonment for
as long as 20 years for individuals
convicted under the act.

Sorry, that last text was
inadvertently sent to you. My
apologies. - Lin

10 min
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Defendants’ Conduct During Negotiations of Settlement Agreement
166.

Defendants’ fraudulent and malicious intent is also revealed by and through their drafts
of the Settlement Agreement.

167.

Upon information and belief, when they entered into the Settlement Agreement,
Defendants were intent on forestalling a lawsuit by Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson that
would reveal Defendant Wood’s indisputable pattern of violent, abusive, and erratic behavior
supporting claims for assault, battery, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and
defamation. Defendant Wood had repeatedly voiced his concerns about his misconduct being
disclosed as he feared it would interfere with his imminent receipt of the Presidential Medal of
Freedom and appointment as Chief Justice of United States Supreme Court. The latter belief was
based, in part, on (1) a decade-plus old “prophecy” Defendant Wood heard in a YouTube video,
and (2) a conspiracy theory that Chief Justice Roberts would be revealed to be part of Jeffrey
Epstein’s sex trafficking ring and was being blackmailed by liberals to rule in their favor.

168.

More specifically, in reviewing Defendants’ drafts of the Settlement Agreement, it is
apparent that Defendants were always planning to find a way to “never pay one thin dime” and
attempted to have Plaintiffs agree to a Settlement Agreement that would allow Defendants to
renege on their covenant to pay Plaintiffs fee splits when the time came for performance, on the
purported basis that client consent was required, by setting forth a false recital of their
relationship as lawyers, fully cognizant of Georgia Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5(e) and its

application.
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169.

Defendants’ first draft of the Settlement Agreement stated: “Nicole Wade, Jonathan
Grunberg, and Taylor Wilson have never been law partners in L. Lin Wood, P.C. (hereinafter
‘LLW PC’) but have worked with L. Lin Wood, P.C. by agreement on a case-by-case basis
while sharing office space since 2018.” (Emphasis added).

170.

Plaintiffs objected to the above false description of their indisputable association with
Defendant LLW PC. Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson did not work with Defendant LLW
PC by agreement on a case-by-case basis. Defendant Wood never handled any litigation solely
by himself. Since 2018, if not earlier, every case for which Defendant LLW PC entered into an
engagement was worked on by Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and/or Wilson, all as lawyers of
Defendant LLW PC. While Defendant Wood and Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson would
discuss which attorneys should work on which matters, Defendant Wood would direct Plaintiffs
Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson what work to handle for what case, because he was their self-
proclaimed “boss.”

171.

When Plaintiffs objected, Defendants claimed that this language was there “for insurance
purposes.”

172.

Defendants then edited this recital to state: “Nicole Wade, Jonathan Grunberg, and
Taylor Wilson have never held any ownership interest in L. Lin Wood, P.C. (hereinafter ‘LLW

PC’) but, through Wade Law, LLC and Grunberg & Wilson, LLC, have worked with L. Lin
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Wood, P.C. by general agreement on hourly fee cases and by agreement on a case-by-case
basis on contingency fee cases while sharing office space since 2018.” (Emphasis added)
173.

Plaintiffs again objected to the above false language. The distinction between hourly
cases and contingency cases was a complete farce, plainly intended by Defendants as a material
representation of the agreement, a false representation of the parties’ relationship, and plainly
designed to allow Defendants to renege on their promises to pay fee splits.

174.

Defendants edited this recital again to state: “WGW never held any ownership interest in
L. Lin Wood, P.C. (hereinafter ‘LLW PC’) but worked with L. Lin Wood, P.C. on cases and
were held out as partners since 2018.” (Emphasis added).

175.

Plaintiffs again objected to the above false language, questioning why — if Defendants
insisted on a recital setting forth the facts and nature of their relationship with Defendant LLW
PC — Defendants insisted on falsely stating Plaintiffs were anything but lawyers of Defendant
LLW PC.

176.

Defendants finally edited this recital a fourth time, arriving at the agreed upon language,
which is the truth: “WGW never held any ownership interest in L. Lin Wood, P.C. (hereinafter
‘LLW PC’) but have worked as lawyers of L. Lin Wood, P.C. on cases since 2018.” (Emphasis

added).
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177.

As demonstrated by the number of negotiations on this point, Defendants’ agreement to
this fact was a material representation contained in the Settlement Agreement, and inducing
Plaintiffs to enter into the Settlement Agreement, as all parties knew this representation was
integral to payment of fees under Rule 1.5.

178.

Georgia Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5(e) “does not prohibit or regulate division of
fees to be received in the future for work done when lawyers were previously associated in a law
firm.” Rule 1.5(e), cmt. 8.

179.

Because Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson acted as lawyers of Defendant LLW PC
at the time they performed work in the Disputed Case (and all cases subject of the Settlement
Agreement), Georgia Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5(e) is inapplicable with respect to
Plaintiffs’ claim for breach of contract.

180.

Defendants always intended to take the position that Plaintiffs were not lawyers of
Defendant LLW PC, including prior to, at the time of, and after executing the Settlement
Agreement.

181.

Defendants always intended to take the position that client consent was required and

knew as counsel for the clients in the Disputed Case, that such consent would not be given,

including prior to, at the time of, and after executing the Settlement Agreement.
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182.

Defendants’ intent prior to, at the time of, and after executing the Settlement Agreement

was as they had repeatedly stated: never to pay to Plaintiffs “one thin dime.”
183.

As set forth herein, Defendants thereafter and prior to executing the Settlement
Agreement, including as early as their February 11, 2020 e-mail, repeatedly threatened that they
would pay to Plaintiffs only quantum meruit for their work on the Disputed Case even though
Defendant Wood had already agreed to pay Plaintiffs a fee comparable to his previous practice
and procedure with respect to distribution of attorneys’ fees in cases.

184.

After multiple settlement offers of compensation based on quantum meruit were rejected
by Plaintiffs, Defendants agreed to the terms of the Settlement Agreement, which required
payment to Plaintiffs on a lump sum basis rather than a quantum meruit basis.

185.

However, Defendants attempted to draft the agreement in a manner that would allow
Defendants to do exactly what they always intended to do, never pay to Plaintiffs “one thin
dime,” despite their express agreements to the contrary in the Settlement Agreement that (1)
Plaintiffs were acting as lawyers of Defendant LLW PC and (2) Defendant LLW PC would pay
to Plaintiffs the agreed sum.

186.

Moreover, despite the Settlement Agreement not containing a single provision requiring

the payment of any money by Plaintiffs to Defendants — providing instead that Defendants would

pay a lump sum to Plaintiffs after withholding the Lease payment (stating, “LLW PC shall pay
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the stated portion of said fees ... to WGW, minus the lease amount referenced in Section 2

below,” which itself provides that “[t]his amount [for the Lease] shall be deducted from the

payment by LLW PC to WGW referenced” above) — Defendants took the position that they both

get to keep the fees they were supposed to pay to Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs had to pay to

Defendants the Lease payment, i.e., Defendants would not be paying Plaintiffs “one thin dime.”
187.

Section 3 of the Settlement Agreement contains a unilateral non-disparagement provision
that binds only Defendants, providing that “LLW PC and L. Lin Wood, individually, agree not to
disparage WGW.” (Ex. A).

188.

In summary: (1) after months of repeatedly reiterating that Plaintiffs were partners and
otherwise associated in Defendants’ law firm LLW PC, falsely accusing Plaintiffs of various
crimes, threatening them with various fantastical civil liabilities, making up various acts
allegedly committed by Plaintiffs, assaulting and battering Plaintiffs Grunberg and Wilson,
repeatedly reiterating that Defendants would never pay Plaintiffs “one thin dime” on the cases
subject of the Settlement Agreement, repeatedly claiming Defendant Wood would destroy
Plaintiffs’ careers, and making repeated threats of physical harm against Plaintiffs Grunberg and
Wilson, Defendants executed a Settlement Agreement promising to pay Plaintiffs a lump sum on
various cases in return for which Plaintiffs made financial concessions totaling hundreds of
thousands of dollars and giving Defendants a release for their conduct specifically in order to
avoid filing this lawsuit; and (2) after executing the Settlement Agreement, Defendants made
good on their repeated statements that they would never pay Plaintiffs “one thin dime” by

claiming that the client in the Disputed Case, for whom Defendants were and remain counsel,
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refused his consent to the compensation required by the Settlement Agreement, which
Defendants claimed was required because, despite the conduct described herein, it is Defendants’
position that Plaintiffs were never associated with Defendants’ law firm.

COUNTI:
BREACH OF CONTRACT

189.

Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 188 of their First

Amended Complaint, as if specifically set forth herein.
190.

The parties entered into the Settlement Agreement on or around March 17, 2020,
whereby Defendant LLW PC agreed to pay Plaintiffs a portion of its fees for their work on
certain cases, including the Disputed Case.

191.
The portion of Defendant LLW PC’s fees in the Disputed Case is a liquidated sum.
192.

All conditions precedent under the Settlement Agreement have been satisfied to trigger
the payment by Defendant LLW PC of a portion of its fees for the cases to Plaintiffs, including
the Disputed Case.

193.

Defendants breached the terms of the Settlement Agreement by failing and refusing to

pay to Plaintiffs the agreed amounts within 72 hours of Defendant LLW PC’s receipt of its

portion of its fees in the Disputed Case, as required in the Settlement Agreement.

60



194.

Defendants’ refusal to pay Plaintiffs the agreed-upon amounts was in bad faith as it was
purportedly based upon a Georgia Rule of Professional Conduct which Defendants knew was
inapplicable, especially since Defendants had personal knowledge that Plaintiffs Wade,
Grunberg, and Wilson had acted as lawyers of Defendant LLW PC in all matters related to the
Disputed Case, and no such consent was required for the fee sharing set forth in the Settlement
Agreement because, inter alia, Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg and Wilson were lawyers of Defendant
LLW PC—i.e., they were associated in the law firm with Defendant Wood.

195.

The Settlement Agreement, itself, recites as follows: “WHEREAS, Nicole Wade,
Jonathan Grunberg, and Taylor Wilson and Wood are lawyers who practiced law and shared
office space together for several years.”

196.

The Settlement Agreement, itself, recites as follows: “WHEREAS, WGW never held any
ownership interest in L. Lin Wood, P.C. (hereinafter ‘LLW PC’) but have worked as lawyers of
L. Lin Wood, P.C. on cases since 2018.”

197.

In addition to the many indisputable facts contained herein establishing that Plaintiffs
Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson have at all times acted as lawyers of Defendant LLW PC, the
above recital is conclusive proof of that fact.

198.
The amounts owed by Defendants are owed for the substantial work that Plaintiffs

performed for the clients of LLW PC and for which they have not yet been paid. The clients for

61



the cases in question have already paid the fees to LLW PC, and the issue resolved in the
Settlement Agreement was how those fees would be distributed among the lawyers who worked
on the cases.

199.

In addition, Defendants executed the Settlement Agreement representing that clients in
the Disputed Case were specifically clients of Defendant LLW PC and that Defendant Wood was
their attorney. As such, Defendant Wood had the apparent authority to bind the clients in the
Disputed Case to the terms of the Agreement, and in fact, did so bind these clients.

200.

Defendants further breached the Settlement Agreement by breaching the implied
covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and by failing “to use [their] best efforts to bring about
the happening of the condition to his promise,” to the extent client consent can be said to have
been a condition to performance. Cf. Turner Broadcasting System, Inc. v. McDavid, 303 Ga.
App. 593, 602 (2010).

201.

Defendants’ breach of the Settlement Agreement proximately caused Plaintiffs to suffer
damages for the liquidated sum set forth in the Settlement Agreement, as well as other amounts
owed under the Settlement Agreement.

202.

Defendant LLW PC is liable to Plaintiffs in the amount of the fees set forth in the

Settlement Agreement owed to Plaintiffs for their work on those cases, together with attorney’s

fees for Defendants’ bad faith refusal to pay and with interest pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 7-4-12.
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COUNT II:
FRAUD AND FRAUDULENT INDUCEMENT

203.
Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 188 of their First
Amended Complaint, as if specifically set forth herein.
204.
Defendants fraudulently induced Plaintiffs to enter into the Settlement Agreement.
205.
Defendants’ misrepresentations are incorporated into the Settlement Agreement.
206.

Plaintiffs reasonably relied on Defendants’ affirmative but fraudulent representation that
they would perform their obligations under the Settlement Agreement, including to pay the
promised fees for the Disputed Case and the other cases.

207.

At the time they entered into the Settlement Agreement, Plaintiffs reasonably relied on
Defendants’ statement and representation in the Settlement Agreement that, inter alia, Plaintiffs
Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson “worked as lawyers of L. Lin Wood, P.C. on cases since 2018”—a
clause that was heavily negotiated, as Defendants initially drafted it to falsely convey that
Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson were not attorneys of Defendant LLW PC.

208.

As Defendants have themselves proven, they never intended to abide by this true

statement of fact that Plaintiffs Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson “worked as lawyers of L. Lin

Wood, P.C. on cases since 2018”.
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2009.

Defendants always intended to take the position that client consent to the fee splits in the
Settlement Agreement was required, and they knew at the time they entered into the Settlement
Agreement that such consent from the clients in the Disputed Case had been withheld or would
be withheld, and/or that Defendants would ensure that it was withheld; i.e., that the future event
would not take place.

210.

Defendants’ fraud is proven by additional substantial and irrefutable circumstantial
evidence concerning their fraudulent intent — prior to and at the time of executing the Settlement
Agreement — to induce Plaintiffs to enter into the Settlement Agreement.

211.

To induce Plaintiffs to sign the Settlement Agreement, Defendant drafted the Settlement
Agreement to state that Defendants were indeed counsel for the clients in all of the cases
referenced therein, including the Disputed Case, and therefore, as their counsel, that Defendant
Wood had all requisite authority to enter into the Settlement Agreement. Defendants further
induced Plaintiffs to enter into the Settlement Agreement by drafting language that asserted that
Plaintiffs at all times acted as lawyers of Defendant LLW PC, thereby eliminating any purported
need for client consent.

212.

Defendants further expressly instructed and demanded under threats of civil liability,

criminal liability, and repercussions with the State Bar, that Plaintiffs were not permitted to

contact Defendant LLW PC’s clients or co-counsel, including the clients in the Disputed Case.
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213.

Defendants at all times relevant hereto acted as counsel to the clients in the Disputed
Case, allowing Plaintiffs to reasonably rely on Defendants’ apparent authority as set out in the
Settlement Agreement to bind the clients in the Disputed Case and rely on Defendants’ implicit
representation contained in the Settlement Agreement that said clients knew of and agreed to the
terms of the Settlement Agreement.

214.

Thus, Defendants made misrepresentations in the Settlement Agreement intended to
induce — and which did in fact induce — Plaintiffs to believe that Defendants agreed that client
consent was not required for the payments in the Settlement Agreement and/or that Defendants
had obtained any consent that was required, and to take actions based on that belief.

215.

Defendants’ fraudulent intention to never pay to Plaintiffs “one thin dime” is further
evidenced by the manner in which they drafted the terms triggering Defendant LLW PC’s
payment obligations to Plaintiffs. For instance, at the time the Settlement Agreement was
entered into, Defendants had already received the compensation necessary to pay Plaintiffs fees
in multiple cases subject of the Settlement Agreement, but they drafted the Agreement only to
trigger payment to Plaintiffs upon receipt of compensation in the Disputed Case at a later date.
Meanwhile, the Lease obligation Plaintiffs agreed to in the Settlement Agreement (but were not
otherwise responsible for) was larger than the fees owed in cases other than the Disputed Case
and would only be paid out of the fees in the Settlement Agreement. Thus, Defendants have
attempted to make good on the “one thin dime” statements by withholding for months fees owed

so that they could later claim the Lease obligation swallowed all fees owed to Plaintiffs.
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216.

Defendants attempted to make good on their repeated statements they would never pay to
Plaintiffs “one thin dime” by attempting (and failing) to build into the Settlement Agreement the
very fraudulent defense on which they now rely: that Plaintiffs were not lawyers of Defendant
LLW PC in the years preceding this dispute.

217.

All of Defendant Wood’s prior conduct leads to one inescapable conclusion — that he
never intended to pay Plaintiffs. That conduct includes his assault and battery of Plaintiffs
Grunberg and Wilson; additional threats of physical harm against Plaintiffs Grunberg and
Wilson, including that he would fight them to the death; repeatedly reiterating that he would
never pay to Plaintiffs “one thin dime” prior to executing the Settlement Agreement; making
repeated threats to destroy Plaintiffs’ careers prior to executing the Settlement Agreement;
making repeated false, fantastical, and malicious accusations of criminal conduct against
Plaintiffs prior to executing the Settlement Agreement; making repeated fantastical threats that
Plaintiffs would spend many years or the rest of their lives in prison for Defendant Wood’s
fantastical conspiracy theories about their alleged and false criminal acts; repeatedly threatening
the families, including Plaintiffs Grunberg and Wilson’s wives and young children aged between
3 months and approximately 2 years; and making numerous false, fantastical, and defamatory
statements against Plaintiffs in addition to those relating to criminal acts, including that Plaintiffs
were extortionists attempting to extort money from him to which they were not entitled (it
appears based solely on Plaintiffs’ request that Defendants honor his previous promises
regarding their compensation), including the payment of the compensation owed to them in the

Disputed Case.

66



218.

Plaintiffs reasonably relied upon Defendant Wood’s status as counsel to the clients in the
Disputed Case as stated in the Settlement Agreement and his implicit representations arising
from these representations in the Settlement Agreement that he had all requisite authority and
consent to enter into the Settlement Agreement on behalf of his clients and that he had employed
his best efforts to ensure his clients’ compliance with the Settlement Agreement.

2109.

Defendants’ fraudulent inducement of Plaintiffs to enter into the Settlement Agreement
proximately caused damage to Plaintiffs, including but not limited to by inducing them to enter
into the Settlement Agreement and to give up their valuable claims for fees as well as tort claims
and to agree to allow LLW PC to retain certain sums as payment on the Lease, all in the promise
of payment on the Disputed Case, which Defendants never intended to pay. As such, Defendant
Wood’s fraudulent inducement bars Defendants from raising the defense they fraudulently
attempted to build into the Settlement Agreement.

220.

Defendants’ fraud has damaged Plaintiffs by depriving them of the benefits of the
Settlement Agreement.

221.

Defendants’ fraud has further caused actual damages to Plaintiffs, in an amount to be
proven at trial, for losses suffered by Plaintiffs as a result of their reliance on Defendants’
misrepresentations that Plaintiffs would be paid a liquidated amount within a specified time

frame.
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222.

Plaintiffs are entitled to a verdict against Defendant Wood individually and against
Defendant LLW PC for compensatory damages consisting of the full value of the Settlement
Agreement and all damages proximately resulting from Defendants’ fraud, including but not
limited to punitive damages, and attorneys’ fees in an amount to be proven at trial.

COUNT III:
BREACH OF NON-DISPARAGEMENT CLAUSE

223.
Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 188 of their First
Amended Complaint, as if specifically set forth herein.
224.
Defendants further breached the Settlement Agreement by disparaging Plaintiffs,
including through the statements set forth herein.
225.
Defendants’ disparagement of Plaintiffs is in breach of the Settlement Agreement, which

contains a unilateral non-disparagement provision in favor of Plaintiffs, as follows:

3. Non-Disparagement. LLW PC and L. Lin Wood, individually, agree not to disparage
WGW. This agreement is not to be construed to imply or suggest that LLW PC and/or L.
Lin Wood has disparaged WGW or its members prior to the date of this Agreement.
Nothing in this provision prevents the Parties from providing truthful information about
each other and its members in response to a court order or subpoena, or during any federal,
state, or local governmental body investigation or proceeding. LLW PC and L. Lin Wood,
individually, do not seek in this Agreement any legal protection regarding any future
disparagement of LLW PC and L. Lin Wood, individually, but shall address any future
false and defamatory statements by WGW and its members about LLW PC and L. Lin
Wood, individually, on a case-by-case basis as provided by law.
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226.

Defendants sent an email to a former client who is not actively represented by either

Plaintiffs or Defendants but who has outstanding bills subject to division under the Settlement

Agreement: 4

Subject: Re: Monies Owed to LLW, PC
Date:  Wednesday, August 26, 2020 at 11:04:12 AM Eastern Daylight Time

From: Lin Wood

cc: Nicole Jennings Wade, Joey Burby, Marquardt, Chris
Priority: High

T hate to write you this email but you need to call me at_ ASAP.

Nicole Wade and her law partners are preparing to sue me tomorrow for fraud in a frivolous
lawsuit intended to extort money fromh that they did not earn as
demonstrated by their refusal to document their time as requested by

Tintend to expose Nicole and her partners publicly. They are putting their greed and personal
interests ahead of the interests of their clients, including you. I have patiently worked with you

on your bill. Nicole's efforts to extort money from me will bring my patience to an abrupt halt.

T will not be extorted, especially not by crooks. I have never cheated anybody out of a dime in
my adult life as a person and as a lawyer. You know my reputation and you know my integrity.

When you call me, I will explain the details. I think you are going to be disgusted by what you
learn about Nicole's conduct and wrongdoing.

Sorry you have to be involved in this matter, but Nicole is the one who has placed you at risk
by her greed and false accusations against me.

T will look forward to speaking with you,
Highest personal regards,

Lin

L. Lin Wood

L.LIN WOOD, P.C.

Telephone: (404) 891-1402

Direct Dial: (404) 891-1406

Facsimile: (404) 506-9111
E-Mail: Iwood@linwoodlaw.com

227.

Other clients and co-counsel called to advise Plaintiffs that Defendant Wood had called

them, and at least one such client reported that Defendant Wood had accused Plaintiffs of being

“extortionists.”

* The clients’ names in the email are being redacted to protect their confidentiality.

69



228.

On September 1, 2020, Defendants provided the written “Statement of L. Lin Wood
Regarding Lawsuit Filed Against Him and L. Lin Wood, P.C. by Wade, Grunberg & Wilson,
LLC” to a reporter for the Fulton County Daily Report disparaging Plaintiffs, inter alia, by
stating:

Plaintiffs “file[d] a frivolous and unnecessary lawsuit against me and my
law firm”; “these young lawyers have chosen to willingly engage in a disgraceful
and unprofessional effort to publicly attack me by including irrelevant, out-of-
context private messages I sent to them”; “[n]Jow in a shakedown effort to coerce
me to do what I believe the ethical rules of my profession prohibit, they
manipulate and ignore truth to try to force me, without my client’s consent, to pay
their separate law firms an unreasonable portion of my earned fee while
repeatedly refusing to provide to the client any proof of the work they claim to
have performed on the case”; Plaintiffs “quickly rejected all of those proposals,
opting instead to make this fee dispute public and to falsely sensationalize a
straightforward business disagreement”; Plaintiffs “have done so with an intent to
damage my professional reputation under the guise of the litigation privilege”; “I
am ashamed of them”; “I have never placed my personal interests over the
interests of my clients and I am not willing to do so now just to prevent their false
innuendo and slanderous claims from being asserted in a court filing”; “I will not
succumb to litigation intended to extort money from me”; “I have no choice
except to fight these frivolous claims and false accusations to the end.” See
https://www.law.com/dailyreportonline/2020/09/02/lin-wood-calls-ex-partners-

fee-splitting-lawsuit-a-shakedown-effort/.

229.
In an interview with the Daily Report on the same day, Defendant Wood also accused
Plaintiffs of being “false accusers.” See id.
230.
As Defendants foresaw and intended, the statements they provided to the Fulton County

Daily Report were published nationally through Law.com. See id.
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231.
Defendants could not let it lie there, however, and thus published the Law.com article,
Wood’s media statement, and additional other disparaging — not to mention false and defamatory

— posts about Plaintiffs via Twitter and Parler (see https://twitter.com/LLinWood). For instance:

Lin Wood @LLinWood - Sep 3 v
| am fighting for Nicholas Sandmann, Kyle Rittenhouse, Carter Page, Simone
Gold, Mark & Patty McCloskey, & others, including my Followers. After
posting my statement below, | will focus on my efforts for others. My
attorneys at @AlstonBirdLLP will deal with the frivolous lawsuit.

STATEMENT OF L. LIN WOOD REGARDING
LAWSUIT FILED AGAINST HIM AND L. LIN WOOD, P.C.
BY WADE, GRUNBERG & WILSON, LLC

I am deeply disappointed and saddened that three young lawyers I mentored and involved in
some of my cases in recent years have chosen to file a frivolous and unnecessary lawsuit against
me and my law firm. Adding insult to injury, these young lawyers have chosen to willingly
engage in a disgraceful and unprofessional effort to publicly attack me by including irrelevant,
out-of-context private messages I sent to them in the midst of a difficult time in my personal life
arising primarily from my family’s reaction to my faith in Jesus Christ. In an effort to help them

i and p , T sought the assit of these lawyers, who had their own
professional corporations, in high profile cases which their firms would never have been hired to
handle on their own — cases which out of my generosity, made them very wealthy. Now ina
shakedown effort to coerce me to do what I believe the ethical rules of my profession prohibit,
they manipulate and ignore truth to try to force me, without my client’s consent, to pay their
separate law firms an unreasonable portion of my earned fee while repeatedly refusing to provide
to the client any proof of the work they claim to have performed on the case.

I strongly believe that when disagreements over fees arise, lawyers owe it to themselves, their

Q 344 M 3K Q 72 0

Lin Wood @LLinWood - Sep 3 v
If activists seek to advance an agenda but cannot attack the truthful
message, they attack messenger. A lawsuit filed against me this week
contains lies & false accusations. | will not be intimidated. | am fearless. |
speak truth & | will #FightBack.

Lin Wood Calls Ex-Partners' Fee-Splitting Lawsuit a 'Shakedown Effort’ | ...
In a complaint littered with accounts of profane threats, three former
partners of L. Lin Wood Jr. sued him over claims he reneged on a ...

& law.com

Q 211 0 26K Q 61K &
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Lin Wood @LLinWood - Sep 5 v
Any ideas on who is financing this frivolous lawsuit against me? Not young
lawyers who filed it. A timed act to impugn my 43-year record of integrity &
honesty.

BTW | follow God & he guides my life. That is absolute truth among lawsuit's
many lies.

Lawsuit: Nick Sandmann's attorney said 'God Almighty' directed some o...
In a statement, attorney L. Lin Wood called the lawsuit "a shakedown."
& cincinnati.com

Q 213 0 18K Q a7k ey

Lin Wood @LLinWood - Sep 5 v
* | love truth. This 2-hour speech | delivered on professionalism at Mercer Law
School on January 16. 2020 refutes false accusations being made against me
in leftist attack lawsuit & Gannett article. Judge for yourselves.

| #Fightback with truth.

Legal Legend Lin Wood
& youtube.com

QO 54 0 604 Q 14k

>

232.
In short, Defendants have engaged in rampant disparagement of Plaintiffs via the media,
social media, e-mail, and telephone.
233.
The statements about Plaintiffs made by Defendant Wood as quoted herein in Paragraphs

226 through 231 are disparaging.
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234.

Defendants know the accusations they levied against Plaintiffs are false, but Defendants
made them nonetheless as part of Wood’s ongoing bad faith attempt to bring his promises to
fruition to destroy Plaintiffs’ careers, to destroy Plaintiffs financially, to destroy Plaintiffs in the
court of public opinion, and to render Plaintiffs “broke and essentially homeless.”

235.

Indeed, Defendants’ false and disparaging statements about Plaintiffs on social media
have already begun to incite Defendant Wood’s followers to repeat and amplify the
disparagement and even to threaten physical harm against Plaintiffs. For example, the following
responses were made on social media to Wood’s posts about Plaintiffs and their lawsuit:

23:329 all T @)

& Commented By N
D LLinWood
) 3 hrsago - ©70k
| am fighting for Nicholas Sandmann,
Kyle Rittenhouse, Carter Page, Simone
Gold, Mark & Patty McCloskey, &
others, including my Followers. After
posting my statement below, | will
focus on my efforts for others. My
attorneys at @AlstonBirdLLP will deal
with the frivolous lawsuit.

@ David Wilson
3hrsago «

Post their names and addresses!! It would

be a REAL SHAME if something real real

bad happened to them EE=E=

Po %o 435

No Comments

Be the first one to comment
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23:207 all T @)

< @linwood Comment &
& Commented By @TheBlackAwakening NS
> LLinWood @/inwood

3 hrsago - ©64k
Any ideas on who is financing this
frivolous lawsuit against me? Not
young lawyers who filed it. A timed act
to impugn my 43-year record of
integrity & honesty.

BTW | follow God & he guides my life.
That is absolute truth among lawsuit's
many lies.

https:/Mmwww.cincinnati.com/
story/news/2020/09/04/lawsuit-
sandmann-attorney-I-lin-wood-
claimed-god-directed-him/
5716153002/

DEQ
- . " 3h
hale

T.co

The Black... eBlackAwakening

3hrsago «
would love to pay them a visit and slap the
stupid out of them. All you have to do is
denounce/disavow me and my buddies as
aviolent, rage driven thugs who have no
place in a Liberal Democracy..!'ll send you
a thank you box of cigars later

Po <o {H3

© ® ~® @
23:339 ol T @)
< @linwood Comment &

& Commented By @BenjaminAllen2 v
LLinWood @linwood
3 hrsago - ©70k
I am fighting for Nicholas Sandmann,
Kyle Rittenhouse, Carter Page, Simone
Gold, Mark & Patty McCloskey, &
others, including my Followers. After
posting my statement below, | will
focus on my efforts for others. My
attorneys at @AlstonBirdLLP will deal
with the frivolous lawsuit.

>

@ Benjamin Allen @oenjarminAllen?
3hrsago «
Wade, Grunberg, and Wilson. Got it.

2o <o 2

No Comments
Be the first one to comment
X:)
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N
X
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236.
At no time have Plaintiffs, or any of them, attempted to “extort” Defendants.
237.

At no time have Plaintiffs, or any of them, attempted to “extort” the client in the Disputed
Case.

238.

Prior to August 26, 2020, Plaintiffs repeatedly requested only that Defendants pay to
Plaintiffs the amount they had agreed to pay on at least four separate occasions as compensation
for Plaintiffs’ work at Defendant LLW PC.

239.

Moreover, Plaintiffs have not had any contact with the client in the Disputed Case and

have made no demands for payment of any amount from the client in the Disputed Case.
240.

Defendants’ breach of the non-disparagement clause of the Settlement Agreement
proximately caused Plaintiffs to suffer damages, including but not limited to emotional distress,
fear, injury to their personal and professional reputations and damage to their business good will.

241.

Plaintiffs are entitled to an injunction, judgment, and/or order compelling specific
performance of Defendants’ obligations, including to retract the disparaging material and to
refrain from further disparaging statements. In the absence of an order prohibiting further

violations, Plaintiffs will continue to suffer irreparable harm as set forth above.
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COUNTIV:
EMERGENCY INJUNCTION FOR THE
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE NON-DISPARAGEMENT CLAUSE
242.

Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 241 of their First

Amended Complaint, as if specifically set forth herein.
243.

Defendant Wood’s statements to clients, to the media and on social media are by their
very nature disparaging to Plaintiffs, and are a clear violation of the Settlement Agreement’s
Non-Disparagement Clause, and as a result, Plaintiffs bear a substantial likelihood of success on
the merits of any action to enforce this provision or to demonstrate Defendants’ breaches of this
provision.

244.

Defendant’s continued flagrant breaches of the Non Disparagement Clause of the
Settlement Agreement are designed to, and in fact have been successful in inciting Defendant
Wood’s social media followers to express their desire to cause physical harm to the Plaintiffs and
their families by inquiring as to their full names and their home addresses and to profess their
desire for something “real real bad” to happen to them.

245.

Such threats or intimations of violence are by their very nature irreparable harm to
Plaintiff as they have caused the Plaintiffs actual fear for their safety and for the safety of their
families. The comments by Defendant Wood and his followers on social media demonstrate that
Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer irreparable damage in the form of injury to their

personal and professional reputations and loss of business good will.
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246.

Further, Defendant Wood’s continued breaches have created the imminent risk of

irreparable harm to the Plaintiffs in the form of physical injury, and time is of the essence.
247.

As Defendants’ statements are in breach of a written agreement he drafted and willingly
signed, the risk of irreparable injury, and indeed the irreparable injury which has already
occurred, far outweighs any harm which Defendant Wood could sustain from being enjoined to
follow the letter of the contract he drafted and signed.

248.

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs are entitled to an Emergency Injunction enjoining
Defendant Wood from further breaches of the Non Disparagement Clause of his Settlement
Agreement.

COUNT V:
PUNITIVE DAMAGES

249.
Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 248 of their First
Amended Complaint, as if specifically set forth herein.
250.
Defendants’ actions showed willful misconduct, malice, fraud, wantonness, oppression,
and that entire want of care which would raise the presumption of conscious indifference to
consequences as to entitle Plaintiffs to punitive damages against Defendants in accordance

with O.C.G.A. § 51-12-5.1.
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COUNT VI:
ATTORNEY’S FEES

251.

Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 248 of their First

Amended Complaint, as if specifically set forth herein.
252.

Plaintiffs are entitled to the recovery of the costs of litigation and their attorney’s fees
under O.C.G.A. § 13-6-11 as Defendants have acted in bad faith, been stubbornly litigious, and
caused Plaintiffs unnecessary trouble and expense. Accordingly, Plaintiffs are entitled to
expenses of litigation, including attorney’s fees, under O.C.G.A. § 13-6-11.

253.

Further, Plaintiffs are entitled to the recovery of attorneys’ fees and the costs of litigation
from Defendants for the fraud they engaged in, including by fraudulently inducing Plaintiffs to
enter into the Settlement Agreement. Defendants’ behavior in negotiating, entering into, and
carrying out the Settlement Agreement evidences that species of bad faith sufficient to justify an
award of attorney’s fee and the expenses of litigation under Georgia law.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray of this Court as follows:

A. Enter judgment in favor of Plaintiffs against Defendants as set forth in each count of this
Complaint;

B. Award Plaintiffs actual, special, and compensatory damages as set forth above in an amount
to be determined at trial, plus interest pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 7-4-12;

C. For relief requiring specific performance of Defendants’ obligations under the Settlement
Agreement;

D. For injunctive relief, in the form of an Emergency Injunction compelling Defendants to
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retract statements they published disparaging Plaintiffs and to refrain from further breaches
of the Settlement Agreement;

E. Award Plaintiffs punitive damages pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 51-12-5.1;

F. Award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses of litigation;

G. For an award of Plaintiffs’ costs of this action against Defendants; and

H. For such other and further relief as this Court deems just, proper and equitable under the

circumstances.

Respectfully submitted this 10™ day of September, 2020.

/s/Andrew M. Beal
Andrew M. Beal
abeal@buckleybeal.com
Georgia Bar No. 043842
Milinda Brown
mbrown@buckleybeal.com
Georgia Bar No. 363307

BUCKLEY BEAL LLP
600 Peachtree Street, NE
Suite 3900

Atlanta, Georgia 30308
T: (404) 781-1100

F: (404) 688-2988
Counsel for Plaintiffs
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EXHIBIT "A"

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELFEASTK

This SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE (this “Agreement™)
is made and entered into this 17" day of March 2020, by and between L. Lin Wood, P.C. and L.
Lin Wood (collectively, “Wood"), on the one hand, and Wade, Grunberg & Wilson, LLC, Nicole
Wade, Wade Law, LLC, Jonathan Grunberg, J.D. Grunberg, LLC, Taylor Wilson, G. Taylor
Wilson, LLC, and Grunberg & Wilson, LLC (collectively “WGW?™), on the other (cach party hereto
a “Party” and all collectively, the *Parties™).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Nicole Wade, Jonathan Grunberg, and Taylor Wilson and Wood are lawyers
who practiced law and shared office space together for several years.

WHEREAS, WGW never held any ownership interest in L. Lin Wood, P.C. (hereinafter
“LLW PC”) but have worked as lawyers of L. Lin Wood, P.C. on cases since 2018,

WHEREAS, the Parties have determined that it is in their mutual interest to amicably
resolve disputes regarding their business affiliation, define with certainty the parties’ obligations
and rights regarding cases on which they have been or are presently working together on a case-
by-case basis, and to terminate their shared office space arrangement.

WHEREAS, the Parties have agreed to compromise and resolve all claims and
controversies now existing between them, and cach of the Parties enters into this Agreement to
memorialize its understanding and agreement with respect (o such compromise and resolution,

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and the respectlive agreements,
warranties and covenants contained herein, the Parties hereto agree, covenant and warrant as follows:

1. Fee Split for Legal Work.

A, LLW PC shall pay to WGW a portion of its fees for the following cases as set
forth herein (or, as applicable, WGW will pay a portion of fees to LL.W PC),
subject to the offset for lease expenses described in Section 2 below:

i from the LLW PC fee, and the parlies
acknowledge that vas and is the client of LLW PC.

. from the LLW PC fee, and the parties
acknowledge that was and is the client of LLW PC.

i, _of the LLW PC court-approved fee, and

the parties acknowledge that m
_ was and 1s the client o 2
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v,

fee will be paid to LLW

BE , and the parties
acknowledge was and is the client of WGW.

v, fee will be paid to
LLWPC , LLW PC
will timely reimburse WGW for of reasonable expenses incurred, and
the parties acknowledge was and is the client of WGW.

vi. fee will be paid to LLW

C LLW PC will
timely reimburse WGW for of reasonable expenses incurred, and the
parties acknowledge was and is the client of WGW.

B. LLW PC shall pay the stated portion of said fees for the_ cases — i.e.,

the ones described in (1), (ii), and (iii) above — to WGW, minus the lease amount referenced

in Section 2 below, within 72 hours of LLW PC’s receipt of its portion of the fees from [l
, said payment to be made via wire transfer to WGW at

L WGW shall pay the stated portion of said fees for the three cases
—i.e., the ones described in (iv), (v), and (vi) above — to LLW PC within 72 hours
of WGW’s receipt of its portion of any fees from such cases. With respect to those three
cases, each Party will be reimbursed for expenses he or it had incurred as of the date of this
Agreement on a dollar-for-dollar basis if and when a recovery is had.

D. With respect to

—LLW PC shall pay to WGW and its members 10% of LLW PC’s
contractual portion of any contingent fee received by LLW PC in connection with those
cases. Any such payments shall be made within 72 hours of LLW PC’s receipt of its portion
of the fees from those cases. With respect to those two cases, the Parties acknowledge that
was and is the client
of LLW PC. Except as expressly described in this Agreement, WGW and its members shall
make no claim for anv case in which LLW PC was and is the attorney for its client,
The Parties
acknowledge and agree that WGW and its members have no claim, and make no claim. of
entitlement to fees for any other matter,

E. With respect to the hourly fee client
, the Parties recognize that

was and is the client of WGW.
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currently owes appmximateiy- in overdue bills to LLW PC. The Parties agree to
cooperate in attempting to recover these fees, and in the event of any such recovery,
payments will be allocated first to expenses owed to LLW PC, if any, and the remainder
split 80% to WGW and 20% to LLW PC.

E. With respect to other- clients, the Parties agree that those hourly billable
matters brought to LLW PC by Nicole Wade, Jonathan Grunberg, or Taylor Wilson were
and are clients of WGW, and that LLW PC will cooperate in providing auy information or
documents for those clients to WGW. The Parties agree that those# matters
brought to LLW PC by Wood were and are clients of LLW PC. The Parties agree that,

except as set forth herein and in Section 1(E), no further amounts will be due to either side
with respect to any matters.

2. Office Lease.

A. WGW shall pay to LLW PC the amount of ” in full satisfaction of any
obligations WGW may have, or be alleged to have, under the lease agreement with PR II

Regions Plaza, LLC for Suite 2040 at Regions Plaza (the “Lease”). This amount shall be
deducted from the payment by LLW PC to WGW referenced in Section 1(

B) above, Thus,
the total payment required by Section 1(B) shall be in the total amount of §

B. WGW (which, as noted above, includes its members in their individual capacities
and their respective LLCs) shall have no further obligation or liability under the Lease.
LLW PC will take all necessary steps to remove the names of WGW members from the
Lease and/or to ensure that they have no obligation for further Lease payments, including
if possible obtaining a release from PR II Regions Plaza, LLC of WGW or, if such release
cannot be obtained, LLW PC and L. Lin Wood, individually, shall agree to indemnify
WGW against any claims by PR II Regions Plaza, LLC, or any affiliate, subsidiary, related
party, or assignee, relating to the Lease.

3. Non-Disparagement. LLW PC and L. Lin Wood, individually, agree not to disparage
WGW. This agreement is not to be construed to imply or suggest that LLW PC and/or L.
Lin Wood has disparaged WGW or its membets prior to the date of this Agreement.
Nothing in this provision prevents the Parties from providing truthful information about
each other and its members in response to a court order or subpoena, or during any federal,
state, or local governmental body investigation or proceeding. LLW PC and L. Lin Wood,
individually, do not seek in this Agreement any legal protection regarding any future
disparagement of LLW PC and L. Lin Wood, individually, but shall address any future
false and defamatory statements by WGW and its members about LLW PC and L. Lin
Wood, individually, on a case-by-case basis as provided by law.

4. Mutual General Release.

A. Release by Wood. LLW PC and L. Lin Wood, individually, hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally forever release and discharge WGW (as defined above), and their heirs,
executors, administrators and assigns, and their attorneys and representatives, and
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B.

waive any and all rights with respect to, all manner of actual or potential claims, actions,
causes of action, suits, judgments, rights, demands, debts, damages or accountings of
whatever nature, legal, equitable or administrative, whether the same are now known
or unknown, which LLW PC and L. Lin Wood, individually, ever had, now have or
may claim to have, upon or by reason of any acts or omissions of WGW or it members
up fo the effective date of this Agreement, including but not limited to all claims and
liabilities arising from any acts, omissions, cases, or business relationships that have
occurred or commenced, or allegedly have occurred or commenced, prior to the date
that this Agreement is signed. This is a general release of all such claims.

Release by WGW. Nicole Wade, Jonathan Grunberg, and Taylor Wilson, and Wade,
Grunberg & Wilson, LLC, for themselves and itself, hereby urevocably and
unconditionally forever release and discharge LLW PC and L. Lin Wood, individually,
and their heirs, executors, administrators and assigns, and their attorneys and
representatives, and waive any and all rights with respect to, all manner of actual or
potential claims, actions, causes of action, suits, judgments, rights, demands, debts,
damages or accountings of whatever nature, legal, equitable or administrative, whether
the same are now known or unknown, which WGW and its members ever had, now
have or may claim to have, upon or by reason of any acts or omissions of LLW PC and
L. Lin Wood, individually, up to the effective date of this Agreement, including but not
limited to all claims and liabilities arising from any acts, omissions, cases, or business
relationships that have occurred or commenced, or allegedly have occurred or
commenced, prior to the date that this Agreement is signed. This is a general release of
all such claims.

. The Parties hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably, covenant and agree with

and in favor of each other Party that they shall not sue (at law, in equity, in any regulatory
proceeding or otherwise), or maintain any suit against, any Party released above on the
basis of any claim released, remised and discharged above.

The Parties understand, acknowledge and agree that the releases set forth above may be
pleaded as a full and complete defense and may be used as a basis for an injunction
against any action, suit or other proceeding which may be instituted, prosecuted or
attempted in breach of the provisions of such releases.

The Parties agree that no fact, event, circumstance, evidence or transaction which could
now be asserted or which may hereafter be discovered shall affect in any manner the
final, absolute and unconditional nature of the release set forth above.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 4 and in this Agreement, the
Parties acknowledge and agree that any actions necessary to enforce the terms of this
Agreement are not released or barred. Further, the Parties acknowledge and agree that
any claims or actions necessary to invoke any defenses and/or insurance protections
against any claims for malpractice are not released or barred.
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5. No Further Money Owed, The Parties acknowledge and agree that, except as set forth
expressly in Section 1 of this Agreement, there is no further money owed by LLW PC
and/or L. Lin Wood, individually, to WGW and/or its members, or by WGW and/or its
members to LLW PC and L. Lin Wood, individually.

6. Miscellaneous Provisions.

A. Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be construed and governed by the laws of
the State of Georgia, irrespective of its choice of law rules. The Parties consent to
jurisdiction and venue in Georgia in any action brought to enforce the terms of this
Agreement.

B. Jointly Drafted. The Parties and their respective counsel mutually contributed to
the preparation of, and have had the opportunity to review and revise, this
Agreement. Accordingly, no provision of this Agreement shall be consirued
against any Party because that Party, or its counsel, drafted the provision. This
Agreement and all of'its terms shall be construed equally as to each Party.

C. Entire Agreement, This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the
Parties relating to the subject matter hereof, integrates all the terms and conditions
mentioned or incidental to this Agreement, and supersedes all prior negotiations or
writings. No modification or waiver of any provisions of this Agreement shall be
valid unless in writing and signed by all parties hereto.

D. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which may
be enforceable as an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute but
one agreement. Electronic execution and delivery of this Agreement by a Party
shall constitute legal, valid and binding execution and delivery of this Agreement.

E. Feesand Costs. Each Party shall bear his, her, or its own costs and attorneys’ fees.

F. Acknowledgments and Competency. The Parties represent that they have read and
understand the provisions of this Agreement; that they are entering into this
Agreement knowingly and voluntarily; and that they sought the advice of counsel
prior to executing this Agreement. The Parties further agree that, npon information
and belief, each Party to this Agreement is mentally and physically competent in
all respects, including their ability to enter into this Agreement and any and all prior
agreements which formed the basis in whole or in part for certain disputes between
the parties which have been resolved by this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Settlement Agreement and
Release as of the day and year written above.

L. Lin Wood, P.C,
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF FULTON COUNTY
STATE OF GEORGIA

NICOLE WADE; JONATHAN
GRUNBERG; TAYLOR WILSON;
WADE, GRUNBERG & WILSON, LLC;

Plaintiffs,
Civil Action File No: 2020CV339937
V.
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
L. LIN WOOQOD and L. LIN WOOD, P.C.,
Defendants.
VERIFICATION

I, NICOLE WADE, Plaintiff in the above-styled matter, hereby certify under penalty of
petjury, before the undersigned officer authorized to administer oaths, that the information
contained in the foregoing Iirst Amended Verified Complaint is true and correct to the best of my

knowledge, information, and belief.

This J;Q’ti’day of Y A, 2020. —
| Ap @m@

By: Nicole Wade

Sworn and subscribed before me
this j@l_f} day of September 2020

Ot Lo

NOTARY PUBLIC
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF FULTON COUNTY
STATE OF GEORGIA

NICOLE WADE:JONATHAN GRUNBERG;
TAYLOR WILSON;
WADE, GRUNBERG & WILSON, LLC,;

Plaintiffs,

Civil Action File No: 2020CV339937
vV,

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
L. LIN WOOD and L. LIN WOOD, P.C,,

Defendants.

VERIFICATION

I, JONATHAN GRUNBERG, Plantiff in the above-styled matter, hereby certify under
penalty of perjury, before the undersigned officer authorized to administer oaths, that the
information contained in the foregoing First Amended Verified Complaint is true and correct to

the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

This l()f day of SLY)%QMBU, 2020.

0/{)[0 o Cu.//w('j p N\HO%‘ C.,
Sworn and subscribed before me

this __Jodayof $2at. 642020,
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF FULTON COUNTY
STATE OF GEORGIA

NICOLE WADE; JONATHAN
GRUNBERG; TAYLOR WILSON,;
WADE, GRUNBERG & WILSON, LLC,

Plaintiffs,

Civil Action File No: 2020CV339937

V.
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
L. LIN WOOD and L. LIN WOOD, P.C,,
Defendants.
VYERIFICATION

1, TAYLOR WILSON, Plaintiff in the above-styled matter, hereby certify under penalty of
perjury, before the undersigned officer authorized to administer oaths, that the information

contained in the foregoing First Amended Verified Complaint is true and correct to the best of my
knowledge, information, and belief.

This /0 day of Seprem ber 2020,

K) "}Z é ”(

By( Taylor Wilson

Sworn ﬁ}\]d subscribed before me
this 10" day of Sepfember 2020,

Ohdnal o

NOTARY PUBLIC "V




IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF FULTON COUNTY
STATE OF GEORGIA

NICOLE WADE; JONATHAN
GRUNBERG; TAYLOR WILSON;
WADE, GRUNBERG & WILSON, LLC;

Plaintiffs,
Civil Action File No: 2020CV339937
V.
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
L. LIN WOOD and L. LIN WOOD, P.C.,
Defendants.
YERIFICATION

I, Taylor Wilson, member of WADE, GRUNBERG & WILSON, LLC, Plaintiff in the
above-styled matter, hereby certify under penalty of perjury, before the undersigned officer
authorized to administer oaths, that the information contained in the foregoing [irst Amended

Verified Complaint is true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

This /0 day of Seprenber 2020,

Al el

By: Taylor Wlson, Member,
Wade, Grunberg & Wilson, LLC

Sworn euld subscribed before me
this [0 day of Leplembe ¢, 2020.

Ot Moy

NOTARY PUBLIC




IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF FULTON COUNTY
STATE OF GEORGIA

NICOLE WADE, JONATHAN GRUNBERG,
TAYLOR WILSON, and WADE,
GRUNBERG & WILSON, LLC.

Plaintiffs,
Civil Action File No: 2020-CV-339937
V.
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
L. LIN WOOD and L. LIN WOOD, P.C.,
Defendants.
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this day, the foregoing First Amended Verified Complaint was

served via statutory electronic mail and U.S. mail with proper postage affixed to the following:

Christopher Carl Marquardt, Esq.
R. Joseph Burby, 1V, Esq.
Alston & Bird LLP
One Atlantic Center
1201 West Peachtree Street
Atlanta, GA 30309-3424
chris.marquardt@alston.com
joey.burby@alston.com
Counsel for Defendants

This 10" day of September, 2020.

/s/Andrew M. Beal
Andrew M. Beal

Georgia Bar No. 043842
abeal@buckleybeal.com
Milinda L. Brown
mbrown@buckleybeal.com
Georgia Bar No. 363307




BUCKLEY BEAL LLP
600 Peachtree Street, NE
Suite 3900

Atlanta, GA 30308

(T) 404.781.1100

(F) 404.688.2988
Attorneys for Plaintiffs



